

EFFECT OF BLENDED NPS AND ZINC FERTILIZER RATES ON GROWTH, YIELD, YIELD COMPONENTS AND QUALITY OF POTATO (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) AT DEBRE BERHAN, NORTH SHEWA, ETHIOPIA

MSc. THESIS

WORKIYE HAILEMESKEL

MAY, 2024 DEBRE BERHAN, ETHIOPIA EFFECT OF BLENDED NPS AND ZINC FERTILIZER RATES ON GROWTH, YIELD, YIELD COMPONENTS AND QUALITY OF POTATO (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) AT DEBRE BERHAN, NORTH SHEWA, ETHIOPIA.

A Thesis Submitted to the Department of Horticulture College of Agriculture and Natural Resource Sciences, College of Graduate Studies, Debre Berhan University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Horticulture

Workiye Hailemeskel

May, 2024

Debre Berhan, Ethiopia

APPROVAL SHEET – I

This is to certify that the thesis entitled: EFFECT OF BLENDED NPS AND ZINC FERTILIZER RATES ON GROWTH, YIELD, YIELD COMPONENTS AND QUALITY OF POTATO (*Solanum Tuberosum* L.) AT DEBRE BERHAN, NORTH SHEWA, ETHIOPIA submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science with specialization in Horticulture of the Graduate Program of the Department of Horticulture, College of Agriculture and Natural Resource Sciences, Debre Berhan University and is a record of original research carried out by Workiye Hailemeskel Id. No DBU/1400520, under my supervision, and no part of the thesis has been submitted for any other degree or diploma. The assistance and help received during the course of this investigation have been duly acknowledged. Therefore, I recommend that it to be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirements.

Bizuayehu Desta (PhD)		
Major Advisor	Signature	Date
Wondimagegn Atilaw (PhD)		
Co- Advisor	Signature	Date

COLLEGE OF GRADUATE STUDIES, COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE AND NATURAL RESOURCE SCIENCES, DEBRE BERHAN UNIVERSITY

APPROVAL SHEET – II

We, the undersigned members of the board of the examiners of the final open defense by Workiye Hailemeskel have read and evaluated her thesis entitled EFFECT OF BLENDED NPS AND ZINC FERTILIZER RATES ON GROWTH, YIELD, YIELD COMPONENTS AND QUALITY OF POTATO (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) AT DEBRE BERHAN, NORTH SHEWA, ETHIOPIA, and examined the candidate. This is therefore to certify that the thesis has been accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Horticulture.

Name of chairman	Signature	Date
Name of Major Advisor	Signature	Date
Name of Internal Examiner	Signature	Date
Name of External Examiner	Signature	Date

Final approval and acceptance of the thesis is contingent upon the submission of the final copy of the thesis to the Council of Graduate Studies (CGS) through the department graduate committee (DGC) of the candidate's major department.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and above all, I would like to offer lots of thanks to my God, the Savior, Saint Virgin Mary, my mother and all saints for their kind help in all aspects of my life.

I am highly thankful to my major advisor, Dr. Bizuayehu Desta and co-advisor, Dr. Wondimagegn Atilaw for their valuable comments, suggestions and constructive criticisms during proposal preparation, for providing me with immense supports as well as for guiding and supervising my work during the entire period of the research and for shaping the final write-up of the thesis especially the follow-up made by Dr. Bizuayehu Desta to the study field was highly appreciable and never to be forgotten.

My special thanks go to the Debre Berhan Agricultural Research Soil Laboratory for their unlimited cooperation during soil analysis. I would like to acknowledge the College of Agriculture and Natural Resource Sciences and Horticulture Department for facilitating and providing me the experimental plot and all material support to carry out the experiment. I would also like to thank Horticulture laboratory assistants for their material and moral support.

I am very thankful to my best friends Shibre Debebe, Habtu Mamuye, Abrham Kefelegn, Kidist Adnnew and Nardos Ayalew for bearing the ups and downs that they faced during the field work together with me.

Last, but not least, I want to express my gratitude and deepest appreciation to my families especially my lovely Father and Mother for their consistent encouragement and moral support throughout the thesis work and all- rounded support.

DEDICATION

I dedicated this thesis to my families their affection and consistent care in the success of my life.

STATEMENT OF THE AUTHOR

First, I declare that this Thesis is my work and all sources of materials used for this Thesis have been duly acknowledged. I submit this thesis to Debre Berhan University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Horticulture. The thesis is deposited at the library of the University to be made available to borrowers for reference. I solemnly declare that I have not so far submitted this thesis to any other institution anywhere for the award of any academic degree, diploma, or certificate.

Brief quotations from this Thesis are allowable without special permission provided that accurate acknowledgement of source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by Head of the Department of Horticulture or the Dean of the college of Graduate Studies when in his or her judgment the proposed use of the material is for scholarly interest. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

Name: Workiye Hailemeskel

Signature: -----

Place: College of Agriculture and Natural Resource Sciences, Debre Berhan University.

Date of submission: -----

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

The author, Workiye Hailemeskel was born on April 27, 1997 at Berehet Woreda, North Shewa Zone, Amhara National Regional State. She attended elementary education at Meteh bila Primary School from 2006 to 2013. She pursued secondary education at Meteh bila Secondary School from 2014 to 2017. After passing the Ethiopian Higher Education Entrance Certificate Examination (EHEECE), she joined Salale University in January 2018 and graduated with the Degree of Bachelor of Science in Horticulture on January 2021. After her graduation, she joined the College of Graduate Studies Debre Berhan University in February, 2022 to pursue a study leading to the Degree of Master of Science in Horticulture.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
CEC	Cation Exchange Capacity
CIMMYT	International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center
CIP	International Potato Center
DAP	Di-ammonium Phosphate
DMRT	Duncan's Multiple Range Test
EARO	Ethiopian Agricultural Research Organization
EthioSIS	Ethiopian Soil Information System
FAOSTAT	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nation Statistics
IDM	Integrated diseases management
M.a.s.l	meters above sea level
MoA	Ministry of Agriculture
MoANR	Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resource
NPS	Nitrogen, Phosphorous, Sulphur
RCBD	Randomized Complete Block Design
SAS	Statistical Analysis System
SNNPR	South Nation Nationality and People Representative

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents	page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	v
STATEMENT OF THE AUTHOR	vi
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURE	xiii
LIST OF TABLES IN THE APPENDIX	xiv
ABSTRACT	XV
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Objectives	4
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1. Botany of potato	5
2.2. Origin, taxonomy, and distribution of potato	6
2.3. Ecological requirements of potato	6
2.3.1. Climate requirement of potato	6
2.3.2. Soil requirement of potato	7
2.4. Importance of potato in Ethiopia	7
2.5. Potato production opportunities and challenges in Ethiopia	8
2.5.1. Opportunities of potato production in Ethiopia	8
2.5.2. Challenges of potato production in Ethiopia	9
2.6. Effect of mineral fertilizers on growth and yield of potato	9
2.6.1. Effect of nitrogen fertilizer on growth and yield of potato	10
2.6.2. Effect of phosphorus fertilizer on growth and yield of potato	11
2.6.3 Effect of sulfur fertilizer on growth and yield of potato	12

2.6.4. Effect of blended NPS fertilizer rates on growth and yield of potato	13
2.6.5. Effect of Zinc fertilizer on growth and yield of potato	14
3.1. Description of the Study Site	15
3.2. Experimental material	16
3.3. Treatments and experimental design	16
3.4. Experimental procedure and crop management	16
3.5. Soil sampling and analysis	17
3.6. Data collected	
3.6.1. Phenological data	
3.6.2. Growth parameters	
3.6.3. Yield and yield components	
3.6.4 Tuber quality parameters	19
3.7. Partial budget analysis	20
3.8. Correlation analysis	21
3.9. Data analysis	21
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	22
4.1. Soil physico-chemical properties of the experimental site before planting.	22
4.2. Phenological parameters of potato	24
4.2.1. Days to emergence	24
4.2.2. Days to 50% flowering	25
4.2.3. Days to physiological maturity	25
4.3. Growth parameters of potato	27
4.3.1. Plant height	27
4.3.2. Main stem number per plant	
4.3.3. Number of branches per plant	29
4.4. Yield and yield components of potato	
4.4.1. Average tuber weight	

7. APPENDICES	69
6. REFERENCES	49
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	48
4.7. Correlation analysis	45
4.6. Partial budget analysis	43
4.5.3. Tuber starch content	41
4.5.2. Specific gravity	40
4.5.1. Tuber dry matter content	40
4.5. Quality parameters of potato	40
4.4.8. Tuber size distribution	37
4.4.7. Total tuber number per plant	
4.4.6. Unmarketable tuber number per plant	35
4.4.5. Marketable tuber number per plant	34
4.4.4. Total tuber yield	
4.4.3. Unmarketable tuber yield	33
4.4.2. Marketable tuber yield	

LIST OF TABLES

Tables Page
1. Selected physico -chemical properties of the experimental soil before planting of potato. 23
2. The main effects of NPS and Zinc fertilizers on days to emergence at Debre Berhan during
2023 cropping season
3. Phenological parameters of potato as affected by NPS fertilizer application rates at Debre
Berhan during 2023 cropping season
4. The interaction effects of NPS and Zinc fertilizer on growth parameters of potato at Debre
Berhan during 2023 cropping season
5. Effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizer rates on average tuber weight, marketable and total
tuber yield of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season
6. Effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizer rates on marketable and total tuber number of
potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season
7. Effect of blended NPS fertilizer rates on unmarketable tuber number and unmarketable tuber
yield of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season
8. Effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizer rates on tubers size distribution based on weight
of potato tuber at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season
9. Effect of blended NPS and Zinc fertilizer rates on tuber quality related traits of potato at
Debre Derhan during 2023 cropping season
10. Summary of partial budget and marginal rate of return analysis for response of potato
production to NPS and Zinc fertilizer rate44
11. Correlation analysis of phenological, growth, yield and quality parameters of potato as
affected by application of NPS and Zinc fertilizers47

LIST OF FIGURE

Figure	Page
1.Map of the study area	15

LIST OF TABLES IN THE APPENDIX

Appendix Tables Page
1. Mean squares of analysis of variance for the effect of blended NPS and Zinc fertilizers on
growth, yield and quality parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season
2. The main effect of blended NPS and Zinc fertilizers on growth parameters of potato at Debre
Berhan during 2023 cropping season70
3. The main effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizers on yield and yield component
parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season71
4. The main effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizers on tubers size categories and tuber
quality related parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season

EFFECT OF BLENDED NPS AND ZINC FERTILIZER RATES ON GROWTH, YIELD, YIELD COMPONENTS AND QUALITY OF POTATO (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) AT DEBRE BERHAN, NORTH SHEWA, ETHIOPIA.

Workiye Hailemeskel

Major Advisor: Bizuayehu Desta (PhD) Co-Advisor: Wondimagegn Atilaw (PhD)

ABSTRACT

Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) is an important leading tuber crop for food and nutrition security as well as cash crop for smallholder farmers in Ethiopia. However, the yield of the crop is low at national as well as regional level due several factors such as inappropriate agronomic practices, disease and pests, lack of good quality seeds among which low soil fertility and poor fertilizer management practice applied by growers. A field experiment was carried out during the main cropping season at Debre Berhan University College of agriculture and natural resource science research site. The field experiment was conducted with the objective of evaluating the effects of NPS fertilizer and zinc on the growth, yield, yield components and quality of potato. The treatments consisted of four levels of NPS (0, 90, 180 and 270 kg ha⁻¹) fertilizer and four levels of zinc (0, 225, 450 and 675 ppm) and an improved potato variety called 'Belete' was used as a test crop. The experiment was laid down in a Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) in a 4x4 factorial arrangement and replicated three times. Results of the experiment indicated that the main effects of NPS and zinc fertilizers as well as the interaction effects significantly affected plant height, main stem number, number of branch, average tuber weight, marketable tuber number per hill, total tuber number per hill, marketable tuber yield (t ha⁻¹), total tuber yield (t ha⁻¹), tuber dry matter, specific gravity and tuber starch content. The highest marketable tuber yield (42.45 t ha⁻¹) and total tuber yield $(46.06 \text{ t } ha^{-1})$ were obtained from the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc. The combined application of NPS and zinc fertilizer at the rate of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc increased marketable tuber yield by 161.71% and total tuber yield by 110.22% over the control treatment. On the other hand, the lowest marketable tuber yield (16.22 t ha^{-1}) and total tuber yield (21.91 t ha⁻¹) was recorded from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm Zn fertilizer level gave the maximum net benefit (Birr 1,122,300 ha⁻¹) with an acceptable marginal rate of return (3304.35%). Hence, for economical potato production in the study area and similar agro-ecologies, it is advisable to apply 180 kg NPS ha⁻¹ and 450 ppm Zn fertilizer.

Keywords: Dry matter content, Marginal rate of return, Zinc, Marketable tuber yield, Net benefit

1. INTRODUCTION

Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) is a key global food crop and the world's most important vegetable crop in terms of production and consumption (Kumar *et al.*, 2020). After wheat, rice, and maize, potato ranks fourth most commercially important food crop (Mah *et al.*, 2021). Potato is a good source of energy, low cost, high nutritional value, and high productivity, helping to alleviate global food shortages and ensure food security for the world's rising population (CIP, 2017; Zhang *et al.*, 2018). However, demand for both food and energy is increasing, and this trend is expected to continue as the world population and average income rise (Lobell *et al.*, 2009). It contains approximately 79% water, 18% starch as a safe source of energy, 2% protein and 1% vitamins, including vitamin C, minerals including calcium and magnesium and many trace elements (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). The potato has better ability to furnish a high output of high-quality product per unit input with a shorter crop cycle (generally less than 120 days) as compared to major food grain crops like maize (Hirpa *et al.*, 2010). As a result, the crop is appreciated as a respectable source of nutrient food and cash by a large number of food insecure smallholder farmers and pastoralists in Ethiopia (Haverkort *et al.*, 2012).

The potato has become an important crop in many parts of Ethiopia since its introduction in 1858 by the German botanist Schimper (Pankhurst, 1964). It ranks first among root and tuber crops in Ethiopia, both in volume of production and consumption followed by Cassava, Sweet potato and Yam where smallholder farmers are the major producers as food and cash crop (CSA, 2019). It is currently the world's production is about 376 million tons from 18.1 million hectares of land with an average yield of 20.7 t ha⁻¹ (FAOSTAT, 2021). China is the biggest producer of potatoes worldwide (99,122,420) tonnes and Africa`s potato production is about 26.5 million tonses with average yield of 15.04 t/ha (FAO, 2019). In 2021, Ethiopia produced about 1.1 million tons of potatoes with an average yield of 13.27 t ha⁻¹ (FAOSTAT, 2021).

The gap between the potential yield and actual average national yield per unit area of land could be due to unavailability and high price of quality seed tubers, lack of improved varieties, unbalanced fertilization, low use of organic manures, and low market price at the time of harvesting, diseases and post-harvest losses (Tesfaye, 2011). The absence of recommended fertilizer types and rates best fit to the specific area and production system is also production constraint of potato (Haverkort *et al.*, 2012). It is imperative to increase the productivity alone with desirable attributes through production management practices and application of other

sources of nutrients beyond the blanket recommendation of urea and DAP, especially those that contain potassium, sulfur and other micro nutrients (EthioSIS, 2015).

The application of inorganic NPS blended fertilizers has the main advantages to the farmers from which nutrients are supplied in ratios to suit the demands of particular soils and crops (Roy *et al.*, 2006). Increasing the rates of NPS fertilizers increased plant height, stem number, leaf area index, days to flowering, days to maturity, average tuber number per hill, average tuber weight, marketable tuber yield and total tuber yield (Minwyelet *et al.*, 2017; Arega, 2018 and Melkamu *et al.*, 2018).

Zinc is considered as the most important micronutrient for potato and low recovery of applied Zn is the main limitation in enhancing the yield of potato (Singh *et al.*, 2014). Zinc is a micronutrient essential to plant and has a major role in the development of plant growth and productivity. It is an important plant nutrient and a deficiency of which not only confines crop production (Cakmak, 2008), but also affects nutritional value and human health. It also a vital essential nutrient for improving crop yield and productivity (White and Broadley, 2011) and provides nutrition security. Zn helps to increase the rate of photosynthesis and the translocation of photosynthates leading to increased size and number of tubers. Zinc (Zn) contributes towards synthesis of growth promoters like auxins (IAA-Indole Acetic Acid) and gibberellins while reduces the level of inhibitors like abscisic acid (ABA) to improve the IAA/ABA and cytokinin / ABA ratio, which induces the formation and growth of stolon resulting the increase in number of tubers, mean tubers weight and finally high performance of potato crop is due to utilization of Zn fertilizers in potato (Gangele *et al.*, 2020). Generally, foliar application of micronutrient is very fast method of providing the required element to plants as compared to absorption through plant roots, because nutrients are absorbed quickly (Hashemymajd *et al.*, 1998).

Potato requires a variety of plant nutrients for growth and development. Nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and sulfur are the most important among the elements that are essential to potato (Israel *et al.*, 2012). In this regard, various researches have been conducted throughout Ethiopia with the objectives of determining the fertilizer requirements of potato (Israel *et al.*, 2012). Potato is a heavy feeder requiring large quantities of fertilizers to produce highest marketable tuber yield and total tuber yield. On the other hand, low soil fertility is one of the limiting factors to sustain potato production and productivity in Ethiopia as Ethiopian soils are very diverse in terms of inherent and dynamic soil quality (Zelalem *et al.*, 2009). Inappropriate agronomic practices and shortage of improved potato varieties are also the other major

constraints of potato production in the country (Alemayehu *et al.*, 2015). Fertilizer recommendations made based on preliminary studies vary across diverse agro ecologies in the country. Economically feasible fertilizer amount varies with soil type, fertility status, moisture amount, climatic variables, variety, crop rotation and crop management practices (Berihun and Woldegiogis, 2012). In this regard, Hailu (2014) reported that Ethiopian soils lack most of the macro and micronutrients that are required to sustain optimal growth and development of crops including potato.

In most part of Ethiopia, the sources of plant nutrients for agriculture over the past five decades have been limited to urea and Diammonium Phosphate (DAP) fertilizers which contain only nitrogen and phosphorus that may not satisfy the nutrient requirements of crops. To alleviate this problem, the Ministry of Agriculture of Ethiopia has introduced a blended fertilizer which contains nitrogen, phosphorous and sulfur (NPS) with the ratio of 19% N, 38% P₂O₅ and 7% S. This fertilizer has been distributed in Ethiopian crop production system (Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resource (MoANR, 2013). However, the situation is challenging for the smallholder farmers to apply the recommended rate of NPS fertilizer for the production of potato. In addition to this, the application and rate of micro-nutrient especially Zinc is not studied very well in the study area, and also the farmers do not have the awareness about the importance of micro- nutrient for crop production. For sustainable production of potato, micronutrient especially zinc management is very important. However, no data is available regarding foliar application of zinc, and also the combined application of NPS and Zinc fertilizers in potato in the Debre Berhan district. Therefore, this research was undertaken with the following objectives:

1.1. Objectives

General objective

To evaluate the effect of NPS and Zinc fertilizers on growth, yield, yield components and quality of potato (*solanum tuberosum* L.).

Specific objectives

- To evaluate the effect of NPS fertilizer on growth, yield, yield components and quality of potato.
- To evaluate the effect of Zinc fertilizer on growth, yield, yield components and quality of potato
- To evaluate the interaction effect of NPS and Zinc on growth, yield, yield components and quality of potato.
- To determine the economically feasible rates of NPS and Zinc fertilizers for higher yield and quality of potato.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Botany of potato

The cultivated potato belongs to the family Solanaceae, genus Solanum, and accommodated in series Tuberosa (van den Berg and Jacobs, 2007). The plant bears two kinds of stems, the above ground base that supports the leaves and flowers and the underground one whose terminal portion swells to form the tubers as it accumulates starch and carbohydrates from photosynthesis in leaves (Margaret *et al.*, 2007;Anonymous, 2013).

Branching may occur at any node, but branching is most common at the stem of the plant. Some branches arise from underground nodes on the main stem. Without disturbing the soil, it is difficult to tell these from stems that have originated from separate eyes of the seed tuber. Other auxiliary branches arise from nodes just above the soil. The extent of axillary branching, both sympodial and basal, is of essential importance in determining yield potential (Ewing, 1997). Leaves are pinnate with a single terminal leaflet and three or four pairs of large, ovoid leaflets with smaller ones in between (Struik, 2007).

Flower initiation generally occurs before tuber initiation and takes place a few weeks after emergence. In this sense, potato is a determinate plant. The clusters bear white, pink, crimson, bluish, or purple blooms with yellow stamens. Flower bud abortion may take place at a very early phase of development, but in any event, the apical growth of the main stem ceases with the shaping of the flower buds. The cessation of development of the main shoot axis may not be obvious because sympodial growth of one or more auxiliary branch just under the apex permits further extension above the flower cluster (Alemkinders and Struik, 1994). The fruits are small inedible berries and contain poisonous alkaloids (Rice *et al.*, 1990). The fruits are spherical to ovoid berries, about 1-4 cm in diameter. They are green or green tinged with white or purple spots or bands when ripe (Spooner and Salas, 2006).

The potato has a relatively shallow, fibrous root system with the majority of the roots in the surface 30 cm depth (Onder *et al.*, 2005). The root system grows rapidly during early development and achieves maximum development by mid-season. Thereafter, root length, density and root mass decrease as the plant grows. Rooting depths of 1.2 m or more have been reported for potato under favorable soil conditions (Tanner *et al.*, 1982).

2.2. Origin, taxonomy, and distribution of potato

Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) first originated from the Lake Titicaca region in Peru and Bolivia which are high-elevation areas of South America (Hoops and Plaisted, 1987). Then potato crop has successfully spread across Europe, Asia, Oceania, and Africa since the discovery of the Americas by European explorers. It is grown in nearly 160 countries in the world (FAOSTAT, 2021).

The potato is a member of the *Solanaceae* family, having a standard set of 12 chromosomes (x=12). It belongs to the genus *Solanum*. *Solanum tuberosum* L., which is a tetraploid (4n=48) genome and is the most widely grown species (Rosa *et al.*, 2010). There are about 5000 varieties of potatoes in the world today (Zaheer and Akht, 2016). *Solanum tuberosum* L. is a perennial herbaceous plant in the family *Solanaceae*, and it is grown for its edible tubers (Burkill, 1995). Depending on the variety, the tuber's color can range from red to purple to yellow. Matured potato plants are about 1 meter in height and are grown as annuals that survive only one growing season (Gusha, 2014).

In the tropics, potato grown in the cool highlands and the subtropics in the cool season, or at mid-elevations. In the temperate zone, it is a lowland crop (Hijmans, 2001). The distribution area of the potato is highly skewed to the northern hemisphere, particularly to the temperate zone in Europe, where its share is high at 51% of the total global area. In Africa potato production has more than doubled, accounting for 70% of that growth concentrated in Eastern Africa (Hijmans, 2001). Schimper, a German botanist, brought the potato to Ethiopia in 1858 (Pankhurst, 1964). It has served as a food and income crop for small-scale farmers since then. Potato is widely distributed in different parts of the country including, Oromia, Amhara, SNNPR, and Tigray. Oromia is the major potato-producing region because of its ecological suitability and market outlet (Bezabih and Mengistu, 2011).

2.3. Ecological requirements of potato

2.3.1. Climate requirement of potato

Potato is grown in temperate, subtropical, and tropical climates, and it is considered as "cool weather crop," with temperature being the key limiting factor in production. The best yields are attained when mean daily temperatures are between 18 and 20 degrees Celsius (CIP, 2008). Potatoes are grown mostly at high altitudes between 1,500 and 3,000 meters above sea level,

with annual rainfall ranging from 600 to 1200 mm throughout the growing season, and water supply for the potato crop should be consistent to maximize yields and tuber quality (FAO, 2009). Since potato is a shallow-rooted crop, it is susceptible to moisture stress, especially after tuber initiation (Nyawade *et al.*, 2018). Uneven tuber bulking, tuber malformation, and tuber growth fissures will lead to changes in soil moisture condition inside the ridges, resulting in reduced yields (Polgar *et al.*, 2017).

2.3.2. Soil requirement of potato

Potato may be grown in a variety of soils, but the best are medium textured loamy soils because it holds plenty of moisture but also drains well so that sufficient air can reach the roots, tuber development with minimal root disease infestation, pH 5.5 to 7.0, and low salinity (Gebremedihin *et al.*, 2008). However, potatoes are commonly cultivated in soil pH ranges of 4.5 to 8.5, which have a significant influence on the availability of certain nutrients (CIP, 2008). The optimal soil type in Ethiopia is deep and well-drained, with a silt loam or sandy loam texture that is somewhat acidic and has a loose and friable structure with a pH in the range of 4.8-6.0 (EARO, 2004).

2.4. Importance of potato in Ethiopia

Potatoes play a critical role in ensuring food security for the ever-growing world population (Devaux *et al.*, 2021). More than a billion people worldwide rely on potatoes as a staple food to meet their energy and nutritional needs. In rural areas of developing countries, potato cultivation, and post-harvest activities are key sources of employment and income. It can be utilized as a food security crop, a cash crop, animal feed, and a starch supply for a variety of industrial applications (FAO, 2008). Potatoes are eaten in a variety of ways, including boiled, fried, and processed items such as chips, French fries, flakes, powder, and so on, and are enjoyed by people of all generations and continents (Pandey *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, the protein level of potatoes is comparable to that of cereals and is far higher than that of other roots and tubers. In addition, the potato is low in fat and high in a variety of micronutrients (Lutaladio and Castaldi, 2009).

In developing countries, potatoes are essential to the life of hundreds of millions of people. Potato cultivation is expanding rapidly in the developing world, where the potato's high nutrient content, ability to adapt to marginal environments, relative ease of cultivation, and low cost and high productivity are causes that make potatoes one of the principal and most important sources of food and income for poor citizens of developing countries around the world (CIP, 2017). The Ethiopian government has also regarded potatoes as a key crop to boost food security and economic advantages to society because potatoes have a high potential to provide cheap and high-quality food within a relatively short period (Helen, 2016).

In many human communities, the potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) is an integral part of the diet and a source of many vital nutrients. Potato is about 80% water and 20% of dry matter content in newly harvested tubers. The main component of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) is starch; however, it also contains small amounts of protein and alkaline salts. They are essentially fatand cholesterol-free complex carbohydrates in the form of sugars. Numerous vitamins are contained in potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) including beta-carotene, vitamin C, vitamin A, vitamin B1, B2, B6, and folic acid. It also contains trace amounts of protein, amino acids, and nicotinic acid (Navarre *et al.*, 2009; Belay and Chibuzo, 2021).

2.5. Potato production opportunities and challenges in Ethiopia

2.5.1. Opportunities of potato production in Ethiopia

Ethiopia has highest potential for potato production of any country in Africa (MoA, 2012). This might be due to a high potential to expand the cultivation area of the potato crop, as about 70% of the country's available agricultural land is located at an altitude of 1800-2500 meters above sea level and receives an annual rainfall of more than 600 mm, which is potentially suitable for potato production (Gebremedhin et al., 2008). Since potato is grown from mid altitudes to very high mountain tops, and from humid to dry areas in the country, improvements in productivity will require the development of varieties best adapted to a wide range of environments (Semagn et al., 2015). As a highland country located in the tropics, Ethiopia has very conducive edaphic and climatic conditions for the production of high quality seed potato (Bezabih and Hadera, 2007). Availability of improved technologies eg. Varieties, Management, IDM, etc., growing interests of public and non-governmental organizations in potato seed, increased farmer knowledge of potato seed production and management, high demand for quality seed, and high returns, good networking for intra-regional nuclear seed exchange, strong support of the International Potato center (CIP) and other stakeholders, conducive policy framework, high irrigation potential and conducive market proximity and niche and high yield per unit area as compared to other crops (Abebe, 2019).

2.5.2. Challenges of potato production in Ethiopia

The low acreage and productivity of potato in Ethiopia are attributed to many factors. The major ones are lack of well adapted and high-yielding cultivars, unavailability and high cost of seed tubers, inappropriate agronomic practices, and lack of marketing and suitable postharvest management facilities, pests and disease (Tekalign, 2005; Gebremedhin *et al.*, 2008 and Gildemacher *et al.*, 2009). Lack of varieties with stable and high yield potential, lack of good quality seeds, disease and pest problems, drought and seed dormancy to fit the local cropping calendar, lack of improved characterizations are very important limitations to potato production by smallholder farmers in sub-Saharan-Africa (Fuglie, 2007). According to, Tekalign (2005) 98.7% of the seed tubers required in Ethiopia are supplied from the local varieties. The seed tubers supplied by this system have poor sanitary, physiological, physical and genetic qualities (Tekalign, 2005).

The yield gap between attainable and potential yield of potato in Ethiopia is very high. In Ethiopia on bacterial wilt finds out that disease are one of the most important factors that contributes to this high yield gap in the country (Aliye *et al.*, 2008). The contribution of diseases to the gap between the production potential and the current average national production takes a large part since potato crop is susceptible to a number of diseases including late blight, viruses and bacteria wilt (Aliye *et al.*, 2008). This same study indicated that mid altitude areas of the country around Shashamene, Bako, Jima and Rift Valley are most affected by bacterial wilt. Sub-optimal agronomic practices are also the other most important factor contributing to this potato yield gap (Gebre and Gebremedhin, 2001). Furthermore, the use of local varieties is one and the most important factors which contribute to the low yield of potato in Ethiopia. This is because; the local varieties are susceptible to late blight and of course low yield potential (Getachew and Mela, 2000).

2.6. Effect of mineral fertilizers on growth and yield of potato

In the past years, mineral fertilizer was advocated for crop production to ameliorate low inherent fertility of soils in the tropics. However, currently it is well recognized that the use of mineral fertilizer has not been helpful in intensive agriculture because it is often associated with reduced crop yield, soil acidity and nutrient imbalance (Kumar *et al.*, 2013). Appropriate mineral fertilizer application, especially nitrogen and phosphorus are required to correct the nutrient imbalance in infertile soils (Peter *et al.*, 2015). Potatoes require high quantity of nutrients in order to form abundant vegetative mass and high quantity tubers per unit area

(White *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, potatoes require high amounts of fertilizer due to the characteristics of shallow and inefficient rooting system (Dechassa *et al.*, 2003). Potatoes respond to an ample soil moisture supply with an increase in yield and quality (Dolores *et al.*, 2009). A rainfall ranging between 500 and 750 mm with even distribution during the growing period is generally necessary for optimum growth (MoA, 2011). Potatoes have relatively shallow root zone and lower tolerance for water stress compared to other crops, therefore irrigation may be required where rainfall is limited (Makani *et al.*, 2013). Increasing the rate of nitrogen increase total tuber yield/plot average tuber weight, marketable tuber weight, unmarketable tuber weight, total tuber number/ plant and small tuber size (Fayera, 2017). Increasing the rate of nitrogen up to 375 kg ha⁻¹ increases the plant height of potatoes (Sanjana *et al.*, 2014). Potato were given 0, 125, 250 or 375 kg N ha⁻¹ and resulted significant increase in plant height, stem number plant⁻¹ (Anabousi *et al.*, 1997).

2.6.1. Effect of nitrogen fertilizer on growth and yield of potato

Nitrogen is a very important nutrient in potato production. Numerous substances, including proteins, chlorophyll, nucleotides, alkaloids, enzymes, hormones, and vitamins, which are crucial for the growth processes of plants, contain nitrogen as an essential component (Brady and Weil, 2008). Nitrogen fertilizer supply and rate notably interact in all vegetative growth traits as expressed by using plant length, leaf number per plant, leaf area per plant, leaf chlorophyll content, and plant fresh and dry weights (Nuru and Tenalem, 2019). Plant uptake nitrogen both in the cationic (NH₄⁺) and/or the anionic (NO₃⁻) form. Nitrogen fertilizer increases the nitrogen intake and this increase causes a positive effect on chlorophyll concentration, photosynthetic rate, plant height, the entire number of leaves and dry matter accumulation (Israel et al., 2012). Nitrogen in the presence of adequate phosphorus stimulates canopy growth, leaves and branches. This is through the production of excess leaves and branches, an extension of leaf area duration and expansion of leaf area (Muthoni and Kabira, 2011). Nitrogen is essential for increasing plant height, leaf area index, shoot dry matter, and tuber yield (Zelalem *et al.*, 2009). Increasing the rate of nitrogen from 0 to 138 N kg ha⁻¹ increased the plant height of potatoes from 43.15 cm to 49.82cm (Workat, 2020). Nitrogen fertilizer plays a significant role in production of stem and axillary branches (Moorby, 1967).

Nitrogen is the nutrient that has the greatest impact on tuber yield and quality (Mokrani *et al.*, 2018). Total tuber yield, marketable tuber yield, and average tuber weight will all increase with a rising nitrogen utility rate (Nuru and Tenalem, 2019). Nitrogen is crucial for the

development of tuber size (Zelalem *et al.*, 2009). Increasing the rate of nitrogen from 100 to 150 kg ha^{-1} increases average tuber weight and total dry matter yield (Fayera, 2017). Growing nitrogen application up to 165 kg ha⁻¹ enhances total tuber number, marketable tuber number, total tuber yield, marketable tuber yield, and average tuber weight (Alemayehu *et al.*, 2015). Application of 165 kg N/ha increased shoot dry weight from 52.75 to 72.25 by 19.5 g/hill compared to control (Israel *et al.*, 2012). The greatest marketable yield was also produced by the nitrogen utility at rates of 110 and 165 kg ha⁻¹. N fertilization had been reported to increase the average fresh tuber, plant height, leaf number and tuber weight per plant (Kandil *et al.*, 2011).

The application of 165 kg N ha⁻¹ significantly increased the days to flowering, days to physiological maturity, amount of total tuber yield, amount of marketable tubers, amount of total tuber number, and average tuber weight (Israel *et al.*, 2012). The application of 207 kg N ha⁻¹ increased total tuber yield by 119%, tuber number by 34%, and average tuber weight by 82% compared to the control (Zelalem *et al.*, 2009). Application of 150 kg N ha⁻¹ produced the highest overall tuber yield (40.17 t ha⁻¹) compared to other N rates (50 and 100 kg ha⁻¹) while the lowest value (17.28 t ha⁻¹) was obtained from control (Frezgi, 2007).

2.6.2. Effect of phosphorus fertilizer on growth and yield of potato

Phosphorus is a second limiting nutrient in potato growth and important in cells of living organisms (Hopkins *et al.*, 2014; Mikkelsen *et al.*, 2014; Rosen *et al.*, 2014). It is an essential macronutrient for nucleic acid synthesis, membrane build up and stability, energy metabolism, and many other critical physiological and biological processes during plant growth and development (Lambers *et al.*, 2015). Plant uptake phosphorus in the form of $H_2PO_4^-$ and HPO₄⁻ (Tisdale *et al.*, 1995). It is a nutrient that should be available in adequate quantities from the early growth stages to maintain a high photosynthetic rate during tuber bulking (Hue *et al.*, 2010; McCollum, 1978b and Grant *et al.*, 2001). Phosphorus nutrition also enhances many aspects of plant physiology, including the fundamental processes of photosynthesis, root growth, particularly the development of lateral roots and fibrous rootlets (Brady and Weil, 2008). For potatoes, phosphorus is an essential element. It plays a significant role in physiological and biochemical reactions such as photosynthesis, and the conversion of sugar into starch (Taheri *et al.*, 2011). P also functions as a chemical building block for a variety of coenzymes, phospholipids, and molecules of DNA and RNA (Rosen *et al.*, 2014). Potato has low P efficiency owing to its low P use efficiency and little ability to take it up at lower P levels

(Dechasa *et al.*, 2003). Economically, the application of an appropriate rate of phosphorous significantly increased plant height, marketable tuber number and yield, and tuber size of potato (Zelalem *et al.*, 2009). P also has a significant impact on the setting of potato tubers, especially in the early growth states but also at later growth stages where P enhances tuber maturity (Hopkins, 2014; Rosen *et al.*, 2014). Potato tuber yield increased with increasing rates of P. Potato development and maturity are suppressed and delayed by the P deficiency (Hopkins *et al.*, 2019). Total tuber production grew linearly with increasing P fertilizer rates at 0, 34, 67, and 100 kg ha⁻¹ P₂O₅ (Mohr and Tomasiewicz, 2008). Increasing the rate of P from 0 to 138 kg P significantly increased tuber number plant⁻¹ from 6.4 to 7.9 (Firew, 2016). Increasing the rates of P increased the number of tubers set per plant (Israel *et al.*, 2012) and (Zelalem *et al.*, 2009). In Ethiopia national phosphorus recommendation for potatoes is 90 kg ha⁻¹ P₂O₅ (Berga *et al.*, 1994). The application of 90 kg ha⁻¹ P₂O₅ was required for the optimum yield of potato crops (Getu, 1998). An increase in phosphorus fertilizer revealed a significant contribution to total tuber yield and advanced to get larger average tuber weight and size (Israel *et al.*, 2012).

2.6.3 Effect of sulfur fertilizer on growth and yield of potato

Sulfur is one of the most vital nutrients, playing a significant role in plant metabolism together with nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and magnesium (Barczak and Nowak, 2014). Sulfur can be a nutrient that restricts plant production and quality because it is necessary for a variety of cellular metabolites (Koprivova and Kopriva, 2016). Sulfur has numerous functions in plant growth and development, ranging from being a structural constituent of macro-biomolecules to influencing several physiological processes and abiotic stress tolerance. Sulfur can help increase crop yield, productivity, and quality in the face of the rising demand for high-quality vegetable diets (Zenda et al., 2021). Crop growth and yield responses to S application have been recorded for crops that, without enough S, cannot attain their full potential in terms of yield, quality, or protein content (Sahota, 2005). Application of sulfur-containing fertilizers like NPS improves the availability of plant nutrients like P, Fe, Mn, and Zn, by amending the soil pH which may increase yields of vegetable crops like potatoes (Marschner, 1995). Rahman *et al.* (2019) reported that the highest tuber yield of 40.07 t ha⁻¹ was recorded by application of 100% recommended dose (45 kg ha⁻¹) of sulfur and the lowest tuber yield 25.16 t ha⁻¹ recorded from control. The yield promotion by S is a result of the effect of this nutrient on nitrogen metabolism and the synthesis of proteins and chlorophyll. The application of 45 kg ha⁻¹ sulfur gave the highest tuber yield, large and medium tuber size, dry matter content, specific gravity,

sugar content, and starch content (Sharma *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, S levels showed significant influence on grade wise tuber yield (Sharma, 2015).

Sulfur is being known in view of its function in improving crop quality and balance of anions in agricultural crops including potatoes (Tandon, 1991). Sulfur fertilization has positively changed the tuber yield of potato while decreased the content of dry mass (Cultus, 2013). It also enhances starch synthesis in tubers and it is a constituent of proteins and many enzymes (Lalitha *et al.*, 2002). It increases the resistance of potatoes to environmental stress and acts as an important part in protecting the plants from pests and diseases (Klikocka, 2005). Sulfur fertilizer contributed to a significant increment of potato tuber yield through enlarging tuber weight per plant (Barczak and Nowak, 2015). Also, S has a role in promoting growth (El-Shafe and El-Gamaily, 2002) and better partitioning of photosynthesis in the shoot and tubers (Sud and Sharma, 2002).

2.6.4. Effect of blended NPS fertilizer rates on growth and yield of potato

Soil fertility status, type, amount and time of application have great influence on yield and quality of potato (Westermann, 2005). The application of inorganic NPS blended fertilizers has the main advantages to the farmers from which nutrients are supplied in ratios to suit the demands of particular soils and crops (Roy *et al.*, 2006). Increasing rates of NPS fertilizer may promote the vegetative phase of potato plants that may in turn prolong flowering and maturity of the potato plant. This might be attributed from the increased N uptake from the applied NPS fertilizer that contributes to excessive haulm development and in turn prolonged days required to attain 50% flowering and 90% maturity (Minwyelet, 2017).

Increasing the rates of NPS fertilizers increased plant height, stem number, leaf area index, days to flowering, days to maturity, average tuber number per hill, average tuber weight, marketable tuber yield and total tuber yield (Melikamu *et al.*, 2018). Various researchers reported the beneficial effects of the application of sulfur-containing fertilizers like NPS on growth, yield and yield parameters as well as the quality of potato (Choudhary, 2013). NPS is critical for optimizing potato growth, yield and quality (Miller and Rosen, 2005). The increased potato plant height by application of NPS may be attributed by physiological stem elongation effect of N which is also observed by other authors (Kinde and Asfaw, 2016).

Plant height of potato was highly significantly influenced by NPS fertilizer rates (Lakew and Fanuel, 2021). Application of NPS fertilizer at the rate of 250 kg ha⁻¹ and 200 kg ha⁻¹ showed

the highest plant height of potato (86.73 cm and 87.07 cm), respectively, while the shortest plant height (76.53 cm) was observed on plants without NPS fertilizer. When PS fertilizer amount decreased by half, the plant height decreased and statistically not significantly different with the control which conforms to the results in the application of S alone or S containing fertilizers (Choudhary, 2013) up to certain levels. The increase in plant height with the increased application of S and P might be due to its role in the growth and physiological functioning of plants (Haneklaus *et al.*, 2007). Also, the increase in growth parameters under S application might be due to improved S availability, which in turn enhanced the plant metabolism and photosynthetic activity (Jat *et al.*, 2013) and P enhanced the development of roots for nutrient uptake resulting into better growth (Solomon *et al.*, 2019).

The maximum NPS fertilizer rate shows long maturity days may be due to luxury consumption of N and S elements (Gómez *et al.*, 2018). Increasing NPS application rates in generally increased marketable, unmarketable and total tuber yields of the tested potato varieties (Melikamu and Minwyelet, 2018). Application of NPS fertilizer increased tuber yields of potato in agreement with the findings of different researchers who reported positive response of potato for tuber yields with increasing levels of NPS fertilizer rates at different agro-ecologies (Israel *et al.*, 2012; Minwyelet, 2017; Shege *et al.*, 2017; Melikamu and Minwyelet, 2018).

2.6.5. Effect of Zinc fertilizer on growth and yield of potato

According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), about 30% of the cultivable soils of the world contain low levels of plant available Zn (Hafeeze *et al.*, 2013). Zinc is an important micro-nutrient needed for good growth and performance of potato (Raskshya and Arjun, 2019). Zinc exerts a great influence on basic plant life processes, such as: nitrogen metabolism and uptake of nitrogen, photosynthesis and chlorophyll synthesis (Tahmorespour *et al.*, 2013). Foliar application of Zn significantly affected the potato height, stem number, canopy coverage and tuber yield (Raskshya and Arjun, 2019). The importance of Zn in improving the ratio of the indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) to abscisic acid (ABA) and cytokinin to ABA which promotes the formation and growth of stolons due to increased gibberellin content as result of reduced ABA content (Puzina, 2004). Foliar application of 0.2 % Zn individually produced maximum growth and yield of okra (Rahman *et al.*, 2017). Foliar application of 1% zinc sulphate solution at 250L/ha increased potato yield by 200% (Aasen, 1987).

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Description of the Study Site

The study was conducted at Debre Berhan University, College of Agriculture and Natural Resource Sciences demonstration and research field in 2023. The study area is located at 130 Km from the capital Addis Ababa at an elevation of 2840 m.a.s.l (meter above sea level), with a latitude and longitude of 9⁰41' N 39⁰32'E and 9.683⁰N 39.533⁰E respectively. The data obtained from the Ethiopian national meteorological agency indicates that the study area receives a mean annual rainfall of 927.10 mm and is characterized by a bimodal rainfall pattern with a maximum (293.02 mm) and minimum (4.72 mm) peaks in August and December respectively. The average monthly maximum and minimum temperatures range from 18.3 ^oC to 21.8 ^oC and from 2.4 to 8.9 ^oC, respectively. According to the FAO soil classification system, the most dominant soil in the area is vertisol and cambisol (FAO, 1984). Major crops grown in the study area are wheat, barely, pea, haricot bean, potato, carrot, apple and garlic.



Figure 1.Map of the study area

3.2. Experimental material

The potato cultivar "Belete" was used as experimental material. It was obtained from Debre Berhan Agricultural Research Center. "Belete" was released by the Holetta Agricultural Research Center in 2009. Belete is adapted to areas situated between 1600 and 2800 meters above sea level and receiving an annual rainfall of 750 to 1000 mm. It is comparatively resistant to potato late blight disease (John, 2017). The number of days needed for "Belete" cultivar to attain maturity ranges between 90 and 120 days. The productivity in the research center and farmers' fields was 47.2 t/ha and 28-33.8 t/ha, respectively (Arega *et al.*, 2018). The fertilizer sources used were Blended NPS, which constitutes 19% N, 38% P₂O₅, and 7% S, and 36% Zinc sulfate (ZnSO₄) was used as a source of Zinc.

3.3. Treatments and experimental design

The treatments consisted four levels of NPS blended fertilizer application rates (0, 90, 180 and 270 kg ha⁻¹) (MoA, 2009) and four levels of Zinc (0, 225, 450 and 675 ppm (mg.l⁻¹) (Al-Bayati & Ali, 2019). The experiment was laid out in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications in factorial arrangement of sixteen treatment combinations. In accordance with the specification of the design, a field layout was prepared and each treatment was assigned randomly to experimental plots within a block.

3.4. Experimental procedure and crop management

The experimental field was plowed to a depth of about 25-30 cm using a tractor, and the plots were leveled manually. Planting of tubers was done in June 2023 at Debre Berhan University's agricultural demonstration site. In total, there were 16 treatment combinations, with treatment applied to 48 plots covering a gross area of 11.25 m^2 (3 m in length and 3.75 m in width), each containing five rows. Each row accommodated 10 plants, resulting in a total population of 50 plants per plot, spaced at 0.75 m between rows and 0.30 m between plants (EIAR, 2007). The net plot size was 2.4 m x 2.25 m (5.4 m²). The area of the experimental field was 55.5 m x 13.25 m. The distance between blocks and between plots was 1 m and 0.5 m, respectively. Well-sprouted medium-sized (39-75 g) seed tubers with a sprout length of 1.5 to 2.5 cm (Lung'aho *et al.*, 2007) were planted. The two outer rows were designated as borders. NPS fertilizer was applied at the time of planting. The recommended rate of urea (210 kg/ha) was uniformly applied to all plots in two equal splits, with the first application applied after full emergence and the second at 50% flowering. Zinc sulfate (ZnSO₄) was used as the source of

Zinc. Spraying of Zinc sulfate was conducted at 45, 60, and 75 days after planting, and the application was done in the evening to reduce evaporation loss using a knapsack sprayer. Earthing-up was performed twice before flowering to initiate tuber bulking and once after blooming to prevent direct sun exposure to the tubers. Other management activities such as weeding, cultivation, disease, and insect pest control were carried out uniformly for each plot as described by EIAR (2007).

3.5. Soil sampling and analysis

Soil samples were taken randomly from the entire experimental field following a zigzag pattern from 0 to 30 cm depth before planting using an auger. The soil samples were combined into one composite sample. This composite soil sample was air-dried, crushed with a pestle and mortar to pass through a 2 mm sieve size for the analysis of physical and chemical properties. Total nitrogen (%), available phosphorus (mg/kg), cation exchange capacity (cmol(+)/kg), exchangeable potassium (Cmol/kg), available sulfur (mg/kg), available zinc (mg/kg), organic carbon (%), organic matter (%), soil pH (1:2.5), and soil texture were determined in the laboratory from the submitted sample. The soil pH was estimated from the filtered suspension of 1:2.5 soil-to-water ratio using a glass electrode attached to a digital EC and pH meter (Jones, 2003). The textural class was determined using the hydrometer method (Bouyoucos, 1962), and the organic carbon of the soil was determined following the wet digestion method as described by Walkley and Black (1934), while the percentage of organic matter of the soil was determined by multiplying the percent organic carbon value by 1.724. The particle size distribution of the soils was analyzed by the Bouyoucos hydrometer method (Day, 1965). The exchangeable bases and CEC of the soil were determined by the ammonium acetate method (Van Reeuwijk, 1993). The total nitrogen content was determined by the micro-Kjeldahl method (Bremner and Mulvaney, 1982), and available phosphorus and sulfur were determined using the Mehlich III multi-nutrient extraction procedure (Mehlich, 1984). Available zinc and potassium were determined using the AD-DTPA (diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid) method (Ryan et al., 2001).

3.6. Data collected

3.6.1. Phenological data

Days to 50% emergence: - It was recorded as the number of days from planting to 50% emergence of the plants in each net plot.

Days to 50% flowering (days):- Days to flowering in each plot were recorded by counting the number of days elapsed from the time of planting until 50% of the plants in the plot flowered.

Days to 75% maturity (days): The number of days from emergence to physiological maturity was recorded when 75% of the plants per plot were ready for harvest, as observed by the senescence of the haulms or plants with yellowish leaves.

3.6.2. Growth parameters

Plant height (cm): The height of ten randomly selected plants from the central rows was measured with the tape meter at the physiological maturity stage, from the ground surface to the tip of the main stem, and averaged to obtain the mean plant height.

Main stems number per hill (count): The stems that originated from the tuber were counted from ten plants randomly taken per hills at 50% flowering, and taking the average.

Average number of branches per plant: - The numbers of branches were recorded from ten randomly selected plants per plot at physiological maturity stage. Except for the main stem numbers of plants above the ground all other are considered as branch number.

3.6.3. Yield and yield components

Average tuber weight (g/tuber): - It was determined by dividing the total fresh tuber yield of randomly sampled five plants to the respective total tubers number.

Marketable tuber number per hill: The number of tubers harvested from five randomly selected plants per plot, which were considered marketable after sorting tubers weighing greater or equal to 25 g and free from disease and insect damage, was counted. The average number of marketable tubers was then recorded accordingly (Lung'aho *et al.*, 2007).

Unmarketable tuber number per hill: The tubers sorted as diseased, insect-attacked, and small-sized (< 25 g), from five randomly selected plants per plot as indicated above, were

recorded as the number of unmarketable tubers. The average number of unmarketable tubers was then counted and registered for each plot accordingly (Lung'aho *et al.*, 2007).

Total tuber number hill⁻¹**:** The total tuber number per hill was obtained by counting and adding up the number of marketable and unmarketable tubers.

Marketable tuber yield (t ha⁻¹): The tubers that were sorted and counted from randomly selected plants as marketable tuber were weighted and converted to marketable tuber yield in tons per hectare from net plot.

Unmarketable tuber yield (t ha⁻¹): The average weight of tubers which were unhealthy, injured by insect pests, with defects and less than 25g weight category from net plots tubers were recorded and calculated to t ha⁻¹.

Total tuber yield (t ha⁻¹): The total tuber yield per plot was recorded by adding up the weights of marketable and unmarketable tuber and later extrapolated to per hectare.

Tuber size distribution by weight (%): It is the proportional weight of tuber size categories that were taken at harvest. All tubers from plants in the central rows of each plot were categorized into small (<39g), medium (39-75g), and large (>75g) based on Lung'aho *et al.*, (2007). Subsequently, the count for each of these categories was determined, and the proportion of the weight of each tuber category was expressed as a percentage."

3.6.4 Tuber quality parameters

Tuber dry matter content (%): was measured from five fresh tubers in each plot. The randomly taken tubers were weighed at harvest, sliced and dried in oven at 75°C until a constant weight was obtained and dry matter in percent was calculated according to Williams and Woodbury (1968) as follows.

Dry matter (%) =
$$\frac{\text{Weight of sample after drying(g)}}{\text{Initial weight of sample(g)}} \times 100$$

Specific gravity of tubers: A 5 kg tuber of all shapes and size categories were randomly be taken from each plot and washed with water. The tubers were then be weighted first in air then in water. The specific gravity was then calculated using the following formula (Klein Kopf *et al.*, 1987).

Specific gravity (%) = $\frac{\text{Weight in air}}{\text{weight in air - weght in water}}$

Total starch content (g/100g): - The percentage of starch was calculated from the specific gravity using the following equation (Talburt and Smith, 1959).

Starch(%) = 17. 546 + 199. 07 × (specific gravity - 1. 0988)

3.7. Partial budget analysis

The economic analysis was carried out using the methodology described in CIMMYT (1988), where prevailing market prices for inputs at planting and outputs at harvesting were considered. All costs and benefits were computed on a per-hectare basis in Eth-Birr. The concepts used in the partial budget analysis were the mean marketable tuber yield of each treatment. The economic gains of the different treatments were calculated to approximate the net returns and the cost of NPS, Zinc, and the income from total potato tubers used for further economic analysis. Additionally, market prices of NPS, Zinc fertilizer, marketable tubers, and labor costs were obtained from market assessments during the observational period.

Gross average marketable tuber yield (kg ha⁻¹) (**AvY):** AvY was an average yield of each treatment.

Adjusted yield (AjY): AjY was the average yield adjusted downward by a 10% to reflect the difference between experimental yields are often higher than the yields that farmers could expect using the same treatments; hence in economic calculations, yields of farmers are adjusted by 10% less than that of the research results (CIMMYT, 1988).

Adjustable marketable tuber yield = Average yield - (Average yield*0.1)

Gross field benefit (GFB): GFB was computed by multiplying field/farm gate price that farmers receive for the potato when they sale it as adjusted marketable tuber yield.

Gross field benefit (**GFB**) = Adjustable marketable tuber yield*field/farm gate price for potato.

Total variable cost (TVC): Total cost was the cost of fertilizers and application cost of fertilizers as differing dosages for the experiment. The costs of other inputs and production
practices such as labor cost, land preparation, planting, earthing up, weeding, and harvesting were considered the same or are insignificant among treatments.

Net Income (NI) or Net Benefit (NB): - was calculated as the amount of money left when the total variable costs for inputs (TVC) are deducted from the total revenue (TR).

$$\mathbf{NB} = \mathbf{TR} - \mathbf{TVC}$$

Marginal rate return (MRR): was the measure of increasing in return by increasing input.

Marginal rate of return (MRR %): was calculated by dividing the change in net benefit by the change in total variable cost.

$$MRR \% = \underbrace{ Change of Net Benefit (\Delta NB) }_{Change of Total Variable Cost(\Delta TVC)} * 100$$

Dominance analysis (identification and elimination of inferior treatments): is also used to eliminate those treatments which involve higher cost but do not generate higher benefits. Any treatment that has higher TVC but net benefits that are less than or equal to the preceding treatment (with lower TVC but higher net benefits) is dominated treatment (marked as "D"). Thus, the treatment which was non-dominated and having an MRR of greater or equal to 100% with the highest net benefit was taken to be economically profitable.

3.8. Correlation analysis

The correlation analysis was done for the growth, yield, yield components and quality parameters of potato as affected by the application of NPS and Zinc fertilizer and done according to Carey (1998).

3.9. Data analysis

Data was subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SAS version 9.31 (SAS Institute Inc., 2012). All significant pairs of treatment means were compared using Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) (Gomez and Gomez, 1984) at a 5% level of significance. Correlation analysis was conducted for growth, yield, yield components and quality of potato.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Soil physico-chemical properties of the experimental site before planting

The physico-chemical attributes of the soil sample taken before sowing suggested that sandy 20%, clay 46% and silt 34% and this could be categorized as clay soil based on USDA (1987) textural soil classification scheme (Table 1). The soil of the experimental field is slightly acidic (6.10) (Table 1). According to, (Bruce and Rayment, 1982) soil pH from (6.1 to 6.5) categorized as slightly acidic. The optimum pH range for potato requirement is between 5.2-6.5 (Fageria *et al.*, 2011). Landon (1991) classified that topsoil having CEC greater than 40 cmol (+) kg⁻¹ related as very high and 25-40 cmol (+) kg⁻¹ as high, while 15-25, 5-15 and <5 cmol (+) kg⁻¹ of CEC soil are classified as medium, low and very low respectively. According to this categorization, the soil of the experimental site had high CEC, which was 37.65 meq /100g, indicating its high capacity to retain cations. The soils with high CEC are suitable for potato production. The EC content of the experimental soil was 0.094ds/m. According to, Ethiosis Team Analysis (2014) and Muhr *et al.* (1963), classified soil EC availability of <2 ds/m salt free, 2.4 ds/m very slightly saline, 4-8 ds/m slightly saline, 8-16 ds/m moderately saline and >16 ds/m Strongly saline.

The total organic carbon of the experimental field was 1.48 (Table 1) which is grouped under low. Total OC (%) greater than 10 as higher, 4-10 as medium and less than 4 as low (Booker, 1991). The organic matter (OM) content of the experimental soil was 2.55%. According to, rating of Tekalign (1991), OM ranging from 0.86 to 2.59 is low. The total nitrogen of the research site was 0.14% (Table 1). According to, Tekalign *et al.* (1991) classification, soil N availability of < 0.05% as very low, 0.05-0.12% as poor, 0.12-0.25% as medium and > 0.25% as high.

The available P content of the experimental soil was 8.4 ppm (Table1). According to Olsen and Chapman (1954), P classified soil P availability of <3 ppm very low, 4-7 ppm low, 8- 11ppm medium, 12-20 ppm high, >20 ppm very high. The analysis of available K was 1.18 ppm. According to, Booker (1991) classified soil k availability of <0.05% as very low, 0.05-0.12% as poor, 0.12-0.25% as moderate and > 0.25% as high. The available Zn content of the experimental soil was 1.45 ppm (Table1). According to, EthioSIS team analysis (2014), classified soil Zn availability of < 1 ppm very low, 1-1.5 ppm low, 1.5-10 ppm optimum, 10-20 ppm high, >20 ppm very high. The analysis of available S was 4.82 ppm (Table 1). According to, Alemu Lelago *et al.* (2016) classified soil S availability of < 10 ppm very low,

10-20 ppm low, 20 - 80 ppm medium, 80-100 ppm high, >100 ppm very high. From the values of soil analysis, the very low content of sulfur and total OC (%) as well as the medium contents of total nitrogen and available phosphorus indicate that application of these nutrients is important for optimum production and might be yield-limiting factor for potato production in the study area.

Table	1.	Selected	physico	-chemical	properties	of the	experimental	soil	before	planting	of
potato											

Soil physicochemical properties	Values	Ratings	References
Texture			
Sand %	20		
Silt %	34		
Clay %	46		USDA (1987)
Textural Class	clay		
Available phosphorus (ppm)	8.4	medium	Olsen (1954)
CEC [Cmol (+) kg ⁻¹ soil]	37.65	high	Murphy (2007)
pH	6.10	Slightly acidic	Bruce and Rayment (1982)
Total nitrogen	0.14	medium	Tekalign Tadesse et al. (1991)
Organic Matter (OM %)	2.55	low	Tekalign (1991)
Organic carbon (%)	1.48	low	Booker (1991)
EC (ds/m)	0.094	salt free	Ethiosis Team Analysis (2014)
			And Muhr et al. (1963)
Available sulfur (ppm)	4.82	very low	Alemu Lelago et al. (2016)
Available K (ppm)	1.18	high	Booker (1991)
Available Zn (ppm)	1.45	low	EthioSIS team analysis (2014)

Where Cmol = Centi mole, pH= power of hydrogen, % OC = per cent of organic carbon, %TN = Per cent of total nitrogen, AV. P. Ppm = available phosphorus in parts per million, CEC = Cation exchange capacity, OM = organic matter content, AV.K = available potassium, AV. Zn = available Zinc in parts per million. EC = electrical conductivity in decisiemens.

4.2. Phenological parameters of potato

4.2.1. Days to emergence

The analysis of variance revealed that the main effect NPS, zinc fertilizers and their interaction did not significantly (p > 0.05) affected days to emergence. The uniform emergence of the potato plants from all plots regardless of the variations in the applied doses of the fertilizers might be attributed to the fact that the sprouting process in potatoes is mainly controlled by the potential of the stored food in the seed tubers to drive and sustain emergence. Similarly, Lynch and Tai (1989) and De La Morena *et al.* (1994) reported that the emergence of potato tuber was affected by storage conditions and physiological age of the seed tubers rather than being disciplined by the fertility status of the land.

Banerjee *et al.* (2016) stated that zinc application did not significantly influence the germination percent in potato. It might be due to the fact that food material already stored in the seed tubers gave initial boost to the emerging plants.

Fertilizer rates	Days to emergence	
NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)		
0	19.33 ^a	
90	19.75 ^a	
180	19.83 ^a	
270	19.92 ^a	
DMRT (significance)	ns	
Zinc (ppm)		
0	19.58 ^a	
225	19.67 ^a	
450	19.75 ^a	
675	19.83 ^a	
DMRT (significance)	ns	
CV (%)	3.97	

Table 2. The main effects of NPS and Zinc fertilizers on days to emergence at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV(%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.2.2. Days to 50% flowering

The number of days to 50% flowering was significantly ($p \le 0.01$) influenced by NPS fertilizer. However, neither the main effect of Zn nor the interaction effect of NPS and Zn had a significant impact on this parameter (Appendix Table1). The longest days (61.67) required to reach days to 50% flowering was recorded from the application of 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS. On the other hand, the shortest days (60.50) to 50% flowering was recorded from the control treatment (Table 3). The longest duration observed could be attributed to the increased rate of NPS fertilizer, resulting in excessive haulm development, which in turn leads to a prolonged period required to achieve 50% flowering.

In agreement with this, Jafer (2023) stated that the longest duration required to reach days to 50% flowering was recorded from the application of 150 kg/ha NPS while the shortest duration to 50% flowering was recorded from the control treatment. Gedefa *et al.* (2022) also suggested that the application of the highest rate of NPS fertilizer at a rate of 200 kg ha⁻¹ resulted in the longest duration to flowering. However, the shortest duration to 50% flowering was obtained from the control treatment. In addition, Lakew and Fanuel (2021) demonstrated that the longest period required to reach days to 50% flowering was recorded from the application of 250 kg/ha NPS while the shortest duration to 50% flowering was recorded from the control treatment. Moreover, Getacher (2021) confirmed that the maximum period required to 50% flowering was recorded from the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS, whereas the shortest duration to 50 % flowering was recorded from the control treatment. But in contrast to this, Minwyelet *et al.* (2017) and Getachew *et al.* (2016) observed that there were no significant differences in days to flowering in potato due to the application of different level of NPS fertilizer treatment.

4.2.3. Days to physiological maturity

The number of days to 75% physiological maturity was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) influenced by the main effect of NPS fertilizer. However, neither the main effect of Zn nor the interaction effect of NPS and Zn had a significant impact on this parameter (Appendix Table 1). The longest duration to maturity (121.67 days) was recorded from the application of 270 kg ha⁻¹ but statistically having a similar days with the application of 180 and 90 kg ha⁻¹ NPS. Whereas, the shortest duration to 75 % maturity (120.33 days) was recorded from the control treatment (Table 3).The extended time required for maturity resulting from increased NPS fertilizer application could be attributed to the abundant consumption of nitrogen (N) and sulfur (S) elements. These elements activate enzyme functions and promote chlorophyll production, which, in turn, enhances the interception of solar energy and encourages plant growth and development.

Similarly, Getacher (2021) found that the maximum period required to 75% maturity was recorded from the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS, whereas the shortest duration to 75% maturity was recorded from the control treatment. Mekides *et al.* (2020) and Gómez *et al.* (2018) also reported that applying a maximum rate of NPS fertilizer to potatoes prolonged maturity days. In addition, Melkamu *et al.* (2016) stated that increasing the rate of NPS fertilizer application delayed days to physiological maturity. Furthermore, Melkamu and Minwyelet (2018) and Isreal *et al.* (2012) also reported that application of N, P, and S fertilizer showed significant effect on prolonging time of maturity.

Table 3. Phenological parameters of potato as affected by NPS fertilizer application rates at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

	days to 50% flowering	days to maturity	
NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)			
0	60.50 ^b	120.33 ^b	
90	60.83 ^b	120.92 ^{ab}	
180	61.58ª	121.58 ^a	
270	61.67 ^a	121.67 ^a	
DMRT(significance)	**	*	
CV	1.46	0.92	

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV (%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.3. Growth parameters of potato

4.3.1. Plant height

The analysis of variance revealed that the main effects of NPS fertilizer, zinc and their interaction had a significant ($p \le 0.001$) effect on plant height (Appendix Table 1). The tallest plant height (81.83 cm) was recorded from plants that grow with the combined application of 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer which was statistically similar with the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 675 ppm zinc. On the other hand, the shortest plant height (61.61 cm) was recorded from the control treatment. The increase in plant height due to the application of 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer was by 20.22, 0.45 and 3.93 cm as compared to the control treatment, 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 ppm Zn and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 4). The height increase in plants resulting from the application of increased NPS and zinc fertilizers could be attributed to the elevated levels of macro and micro nutrients, including nitrogen, phosphorous, sulfur, and zinc. These nutrients enhance cell division and vegetative growth, leading to the formation of chlorophyll and chloroplasts. Consequently, this promotes higher photosynthetic activity, vigorous vegetative growth, and taller plants.

In agreement with this, Temesgen and Getachew (2023) and Lakew and Fanuel (2021) reported that the highest plant height was recorded from 250 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer whereas the shortest plant height was observed from the control treatment. Gedefa *et al.* (2022) also stated that the longest plant height was recorded from the highest rate of NPS (200 kg ha⁻¹) fertilizer. On the other hand the shortest plant height was obtained from the control treatment. In addition, Abraham (2019) described that the tallest plant height was recorded from the control treatment. NPS fertilizer while the shortest plant height was recorded from the tallest plant height was resulted from 300 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer while the shortest plant height was recorded from the control treatment.

Manea *et al.* (2019) found that spraying zinc sulphate for potato plants with the concentration of 400 ppm caused a significant increase in plant height. Ahmed *et al.* (2011) also reported that the highest plant length was recorded with the highest concentration of zinc (300 ppm) compared with the control treatment. In addition, Kumar *et al.* (2008) observed that foliar application of Zn helped to improve plant height of potato.

NPS		Plant height	Main stem	Average number of
(kg ha^{-1})	Zinc	(cm)	number	branches (plant ⁻¹)
	(ppm)		(plant ⁻¹)	
0	0	61.61 ^g	2.17 ^g	7.17 ^g
	225	63.41 ^{fg}	3.07 ^f	7.93 ^{fg}
	450	64.84 ^{ef}	3.27 ^{ef}	8.80 ^{ef}
	675	66.82 ^{de}	3.83 ^{de}	8.90 ^{d-f}
90	0	67.47 ^{de}	3.83 ^{de}	9.83 ^{de}
	225	69.40 ^{cd}	4.00 ^{de}	10.03 ^{c-e}
	450	71.05 ^c	4.27 ^d	10.30 ^{c-e}
	675	72.02 ^c	4.43 ^{cd}	10.53 ^{cd}
180	0	77.90 ^b	5.03 ^{bc}	11.53 ^c
	225	77.58 ^b	5.23 ^b	13.87 ^b
	450	81.38 ^a	5.63 ^{ab}	15.57 ^a
	675	79.04 ^{ab}	5.53 ^{ab}	14.63 ^{ab}
270	0	77.97 ^b	5.17 ^{bc}	10.43 ^{c-e}
	225	78.25 ^b	5.53 ^{ab}	14.73 ^{ab}
	450	81.83 ^a	6.03 ^a	16.00 ^a
	675	79.23 ^{ab}	5.53 ^{ab}	14.93 ^{ab}
DMRT(significance)		***	***	***
CV (%)		2.19	9.09	7.61

Table 4. The interaction effects of NPS and Zinc fertilizer on growth parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV(%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.3.2. Main stem number per plant

The analysis of variance revealed that the main effect of blended NPS fertilizer and their interaction showed a significant ($p \le 0.001$) difference on main stem number while significantly ($p \le 0.01$) influenced by the main effect of zinc (Appendix Table 1). The highest main stem number (6.03) was obtained by the application of 270 kg/ha NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 and

675 ppm zinc and 270 kg/ha NPS with 225 and 675 ppm zinc fertilizer. On the other hand, the lowest number of main stems (2.17) was obtained from the control treatment. The increase in number of main stems due to the application of 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer was by 177.88%, 7.10% and 19.88% as compared to the control treatment, 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 ppm Zn and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 4). The main stem number increase in potato plants resulting from the application of increased NPS and zinc fertilizers could be might be due to the nutritional effects of nutrients that are found in NPS fertilizer and zinc which enhanced the activation of dormant sprouts to be developed into stems.

In line with this, Jafer (2023) reported that potato grown with the highest rate of 150 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer recorded the highest main stem number whereas the lowest main stem number was obtained from the control treatment. Gedefa *et al.* (2022) also stated that the highest stem number per hill was recorded from the application of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. On the other hand the lowest stem number per hill was recorded from the control treatment. In addition, Melkamu and Minwyelet (2018) and Solomon *et al.* (2019) indicated that the application of higher rates of NPS fertilizer significantly increased potato stem number. Furthermore, Minwyelet *et al.* (2017) indicated that increasing the application of NPS fertilizer rates from 0 to 272 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer increased the main stem number of potato from 5.47 to 9.8 hill⁻¹.

Ahmed *et al.* (2011) found that spraying zinc sulphate for potato plants with the concentration 300 ppm caused a significant increase in number of stems per plant. Nizamudin *et al.* (2003), Alam *et al.* (2007) and Hassanpanah *et al.* (2009) also stated that the lowest stem number of potato was obtained from the control treatment.

4.3.3. Number of branches per plant

The main effects of blended NPS fertilizer, Zinc and their interaction showed a significantly (p ≤ 0.001) difference on the number of branches (Appendix Table 1). The highest number of branches (16.00) was obtained by the combined application of 270 kg/ha NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 225 and 675 ppm zinc while the lowest number of branches (7.17) was obtained from the control treatment. The maximum number of branches obtained by the combined application of 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc have shown a 123.15, 2.76 and 38.77% increment in branch number as compared to the control treatment, 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 ppm Zn and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 4). The increased in the number of branches as NPS and Zinc fertilizer rates increased

might be due to the chief nutrient present in NPS and Zinc which enhance the growth of vegetative parts, improvement of soil water holding capacity and enhanced catalytic or stimulatory effect on most of the physiological and metabolic processes of plant.

Similarly, Yitbarek and Geletaw (2019) reported that increased the primary branches as the NPS rate increased and a higher rate of NPS promote primary branches, during vegetative development and also help to maintain functional branches during the vegetative growth of tomato. Ahmed (2024) also stated that the highest number of branches was observed in 0.75% Zinc in chili. Whereas, the lowest number of branches was observed in the control treatment.

4.4. Yield and yield components of potato

4.4.1. Average tuber weight

The analysis of variance indicated that average tuber weight was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) affected by the main effect of NPS fertilizer and their interaction while significantly ($p \le 0.05$) influenced by the main effect of zinc (Appendix Table 1).The highest average tuber weight (88.60g tuber⁻¹) was recorded by the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 675 ppm zinc. On the other hand, the lowest average tuber weight (62.55g tuber⁻¹) was recorded from the control treatment. The increase in average tuber weight due to the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc was by 41.65 and 8.14% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilize application, respectively (Table 5). The increase in average tuber weight may be attributed to the efficient utilization of nutrients by potato plants. Additionally, the applied fertilizer could have enhanced nutrient availability, leading to greater leaf area, improved vegetative growth, increased water use efficiency, and enhanced physiological processes. These factors collectively contributed to the larger size and weight of the tubers.

Similarly, Temesgen and Getachew (2023) described that maximum average tuber weight was obtained from the application of 250 kg/ha NPS whereas the lowest average tuber weight was obtained from the control treatment. Lakew and Fanuel (2021) also reported that the highest average tuber weight was recorded from the application of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. On the other hand, the lowest average tuber weight was recorded from the control treatment. In addition, Mekides *et al.* (2020) confirmed that the highest average tuber weight was recorded from 55.5: 89.7:16.52 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer while the lowest average tuber weight was recorded from the control treatment.

Rakshya and Arjun (2019) found that maximum tuber weight was obtained from 180 ppm Zn-EDTA with two spray while the lowest tuber weight was obtained from the control treatment. Rahman *et al.* (2018) also stated that the highest weight of tubers per hill (0.63 and 0.61kg hill⁻¹ for 2013-14 and 2014-15, respectively) was found in 560 ppm Zn while the lowest weight of tubers per hill (0.50 and 0.45 kg hill⁻¹ for 2013-14 and 2014-15, respectively) was recorded from the control treatment. In addition, Mousavi *et al.* (2007) suggested that the weight of tuber was increased with foliar application of Zn at 800 ppm.

4.4.2. Marketable tuber yield

Marketable tuber yield was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) affected by the main effect of NPS, zinc fertilizer and their interaction (Appendix Table 1). The highest marketable tuber yield (42.45 t ha⁻¹) was recorded by the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizers which was statistically similar with 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc. However, the lowest marketable tuber yield (16.22 t ha⁻¹) was recorded from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer increased the marketable tuber yield by 161.71 and 26.91% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 5). The increase in marketable tuber yield resulting from the combined application of NPS and zinc fertilizer suggests that mineral nutrients play a role in producing larger and healthier tubers. This effect is attributed to the delay in tuber growth, which leads to greater allocation of dry matter to the above-ground portion and enhanced translocation of assimilates from leaves to tubers, ultimately contributing to the increased marketable tuber yield.

In line with this, Gedefa *et al.* (2022) described that increasing the rate of blended NPS fertilizer from 0 to 200 kg ha⁻¹ increased marketable tuber yield significantly. Lakew and Fanuel (2021) also reported that the application of NPS fertilizer at a rate of 200 kg ha⁻¹ produced the highest marketable tuber yield. However, the lowest marketable tuber yield was obtained from the control treatment. In addition, Mekides *et al.* (2020) suggested that the highest marketable tuber yield was obtained from potato which was supplied with 55.5: 89.7:16.52 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS fertilizer rate while the lowest marketable tuber yield was obtained from the control treatment. Moreover, Abraham (2019) described that the application of NPS fertilizer at a rate of 300 kg ha⁻¹ produced the highest marketable tuber yield. On the other hand, the lowest marketable tuber yield was obtained from the control treatment.

Rahman *et al.* (2018) described that the highest tuber yield of potato (37.2 and 36.7 t ha⁻¹ for 2013-14 and 2014-15, respectively) was found in 560 ppm Zn while the lowest tuber yield (29.3 and 27.9 t ha⁻¹ for 2013-14 and 2014-15, respectively) was recorded from the control treatment.

Fertilizer rates	Zina		_	
NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)	(ppm)	Average tuber weight	Marketable tuber yield (t ha ⁻¹)	Total tuber yield (t ha ⁻¹)
0	0	62.55 ^h	16.22 ⁱ	21.91 ⁱ
	225	66.73 ^{gh}	21.89 ^h	27.56 ^h
	450	70.44 ^{ef}	27.33 ^{fg}	33.03 ^{fg}
	675	71.94 ^e	30.73 ^{ef}	36.15 ^{e-g}
90	0	71.12 ^{ef}	25.41 ^{gh}	31.33 ^{gh}
	225	74.94 ^{de}	27.89 ^{fg}	33.43 ^{fg}
	450	77.48 ^{cd}	31.85 ^{ef}	37.44 ^{d-f}
	675	79.6 ^{cd}	33.33 ^{de}	38.23 ^{d-f}
180	0	81.93°	33.45 ^{de}	37.51 ^{d-f}
	225	82.8 ^{bc}	37.23 ^{b-d}	41.75 ^{a-d}
	450	88.60 ^a	42.45 ^a	46.06 ^a
	675	87.52 ^{ab}	40.41 ^{ab}	44.89 ^{ab}
270	0	82.84 ^{bc}	33.01 ^{de}	37.46 ^{d-f}
	225	80.48 ^c	34.13 ^{c-e}	40.07 ^{b-e}
	450	80.81 ^c	38.93 ^{a-c}	44.35 ^{a-c}
	675	81.37 ^c	33.91 ^{c-e}	39.80 ^{c-e}
DMRT(significance)		***	***	***
CV (%)		3.69	8.88	7.43

Table 5. Effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizer rates on yield parameters of potato at DebreBerhan during 2023 cropping season.

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV(%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.4.3. Unmarketable tuber yield

Unmarketable tuber yield was significantly ($p \le 0.01$) affected by the main effect of NPS fertilizer. However, neither the main effect of Zn nor the interaction effect of NPS and Zn had a significant impact on this parameter (Appendix Table 1).The maximum unmarketable tuber yield (5.62 t ha⁻¹) was recorded from the control treatment while the minimum unmarketable tuber yields (4.17 t ha⁻¹) was recorded by 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS (Table 7). The increase in unmarketable tuber yield, resulting from the lack of NPS and Zn fertilizers, could be linked to essential nutrient deficiencies in the soil. These deficiencies lead to the production of undersized and decayed tubers, ultimately reducing the tuber yield.

Gedefa *et al.* (2022) and Lakew and Fanuel (2021) confirmed that the maximum unmarketable tuber yield was recorded from the control treatment. On the other hand, the minimum unmarketable tuber yield was obtained from 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. Getacher (2021) also reported that the lowest unmarketable tuber yield was recorded by the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer whereas the highest unmarketable tuber yield was obtained from the control treatment.

4.4.4. Total tuber yield

The analysis of variance indicated that the main effect of NPS, zinc fertilizers and their interaction had a significant ($p \le 0.001$) effect on total tuber yield (Appendix Table 1).The highest total tuber yield (46.06 t ha⁻¹) was obtained from plots that received 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc which was statistically similar with 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS with 225 and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc. On the other hand, the lowest total tuber yield (21.91 t ha⁻¹) was obtained from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer increased the total tuber yield by 110.22 and 22.79% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 5). The increase in total tuber yield can be linked to enhanced nutrient availability and increased chlorophyll content. As a result, this led to a higher photosynthetic rate, which facilitated greater production and translocation of photosynthates to the potato tubers.

This result was in agreement with the findings of Lakew and Fanuel (2021) who demonstrated that the application of NPS fertilizer at a rate of 200 kg ha⁻¹ produced the highest total tuber yield. However, the lowest total tuber yield was obtained from the control treatment. Mekides *et al.* (2020) also reported that the highest total tuber yield was obtained by the rate of 55.5:

89.7:16.52 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS fertilizer while the lowest total tuber yield was obtained from the control treatment. In addition, Minwyelet *et al.* (2017) indicated that the application of NPS fertilizer at a rate of 272 kg ha⁻¹ produced the highest total tuber yield whereas the lowest total tuber yield was obtained from the control treatment.

Manea *et al.* (2019) found that spraying zinc sulphate for potato plants with the concentration of 400 ppm caused a significant increase in total yield of tubers as compared with the control treatment. Sati *et al.* (2017) also noted that zinc application on potato crop improved the size of potato tuber, which directly leads to yield increase. In addition, Ahmed *et al.* (2011) found that the highest total tuber yield of potato was recorded with the highest application of zinc concentration at a rate of 300 ppm.

4.4.5. Marketable tuber number per plant

Marketable tuber number per plant was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) affected by the main effect of NPS, zinc fertilizers and their interaction (Appendix Table 1). The highest marketable tuber number per plant (20.13) was recorded by the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizers which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 and 675 ppm zinc. On the other hand, the lowest marketable tuber number per plant (5.61) was recorded from the control treatment. The increase in Marketable tuber number per plant due to the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc was by 258.82 and 33.84% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 6). The increased number of marketable tubers resulting from the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizers application of nitrogen, sulfur, and phosphorus. This application led to a reduction in the number of small-sized tubers and an increase in the weight of individual tubers.

Similarly, Gedefa *et al.* (2022) and Lakew and Fanuel (2021) demonstrated that the highest marketable tuber number per hill was recorded from 200 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS fertilizer whereas the lowest marketable tuber number per hill was recorded from the control treatment. Solomon *et al.* (2019) also stated that increasing NPS rate from 0-0-0 to 110- 19.74-50.8 kg/ha of N-S- P_2O_5 increased the number of marketable tubers by 127%.

Jenkins and Ali (2000) noted that the number of tubers varied considerably as a result of Zn fertilization, and doubled when Zn level was increased to higher levels.

Fertilizer rates					
NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)	Zinc (ppm)	Marketable tuber number (plant ⁻¹)	Total tuber number (plant ⁻¹)		
0	0	5.61 ^g	10.64 ^g		
	225	5.97 ^g	10.90 ^g		
	450	8.50^{f}	13.83 ^f		
	675	10.00 ^{ef}	15.11 ^{ef}		
90	0	9.82 ^{ef}	14.56 ^{ef}		
	225	10.08 ^{ef}	15.20 ^{ef}		
	450	11.00 ^{ed}	15.95 ^{de}		
	675	12.51 ^d	17.67 ^d		
180	0	15.04 ^c	19.65 ^c		
	225	16.81 ^{bc}	21.31 ^{bc}		
	450	20.13 ^a	23.54 ^a		
	675	18.13 ^{ab}	22.35 ^{ab}		
270	0	15.00 ^c	19.7 ^c		
	225	16.77 ^{bc}	21.34 ^{bc}		
	450	19.34 ^a	23.09 ^{ab}		
	675	18.10 ^{ab}	22.42 ^{ab}		
DMRT(significance)		***	***		
CV (%)		9.08	6.34		

Table 6. Effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizer rates on marketable and total tuber number of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV(%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.4.6. Unmarketable tuber number per plant

Unmarketable tuber number per plant was significantly ($p \le 0.01$) affected by the main effect of NPS fertilizer. However, neither the main effect of Zn nor the interaction effect of NPS and Zn had a significant impact on this parameter (Appendix Table 1). The highest unmarketable tuber number per plant (5.10) was recorded from the control treatment while the lowest unmarketable tuber number per plant (4.19) was recorded by 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer (Table 7). The inadequate nutrient levels in the soil fail to meet the requirements of potatoes for vegetative growth, physiological processes, cell division, and stolon development.

In line with this, Gedefa *et al.* (2022) described that the maximum unmarketable tuber number per hill was recorded from the control treatment whereas the lowest unmarketable tuber number per hill was recorded from 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. Similarly, Lakew and Fanuel (2021) reported that the maximum unmarketable tuber number was recorded from the control treatment. However, the minimum unmarketable tuber number was recorded from 250 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. In addition, Getacher (2021) indicated that the lowest unmarketable tuber number was recorded from 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer while the highest unmarketable tuber number was obtained from the control treatment.

Table 7. Effect of blended NPS fertilizer rates on unmarketable tuber number and unmarketable tuber yield of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

	Unmarketable tuber number	Unmarketable tuber yield
NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)	(plant ⁻¹)	(t ha ⁻¹)
0	5.10 ^a	5.62 ^a
90	4.99 ^a	5.49 ^a
180	4.19 ^b	4.17 ^b
270	4.34 ^b	5.42 ^a
DMRT(significance)	**	**
CV	15.88	17.7

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV(%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.4.7. Total tuber number per plant

The analysis of variance revealed that the main effect of NPS, zinc fertilizers and their interaction had a significant ($p \le 0.001$) effect on total tuber number per plant (Appendix Table 1). The highest total tuber number per plant (23.54) was recorded by the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 450 and 675 ppm zinc while the lowest total tuber number per plant (10.64) was recorded from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer increased the total tuber number per plant by 121.24 and 19.8% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 6). The increase in the total number of tubers

per hill resulting from the application of NPS and zinc rates may be attributed to several factors. Nitrogen (N) can stimulate vegetative growth, leading to increased photo-assimilate production. Additionally, phosphorus (P) enhances root development, facilitating nutrient uptake. Sulfur (S) plays a pivotal role in regulating physiological and metabolic processes in plants. Furthermore, zinc sulfate affects the hormonal status of potato plants.

Temesgen and Getachew (2023) indicated that the highest total tuber number per hill was obtained from 250 kg ha⁻¹ NPS whereas the smallest total tuber number per hill was recorded from the control treatment. Gedefa *et al.* (2022) and Lakew and Fanuel (2021) also reported that the highest total tuber number per hill was recorded from 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. However, the smallest total tuber number per hill was recorded from the control treatment.

4.4.8. Tuber size distribution

4.4.8.1. Small sized Tubers

The proportion of small sized tubers of potato was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) influenced by the main effects NPS, Zn and their interaction (Appendix table 1). The highest proportion of small sized tuber (40.84%) was obtained from the control treatment while the smallest proportion of small sized tuber (4.06 %) was produced from the combined application of 180 kg of NPS ha⁻¹ and 450 ppm of Zinc (Table 8). The increased occurrence of small sized tubers in untreated plots and those receiving minimal nutrient application could be attributed to the low nutrient dosages, which hindered the bulking process of individual tubers.

Similarly, Jafer (2023) confirmed that the highest small sized tuber was observed from the control treatment while the smallest small sized tuber was obtained from 150 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. Gedefa *et al.* (2022) also stated that the highest small tuber size was obtained from the control treatment whereas the smallest small tuber size was recorded from the application of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. In addition, Lakew and Fanuel (2021) and Asfaw *et al.* (2021) described that the lowest numbers of small-sized tuber was obtained from the application of 250 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS fertilizer whereas the highest small-sized tuber number was recorded from the application of the control treatment.

4.4.8.2. Medium sized tubers

The proportion of medium sized tubers of potato was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) influenced by the main effects NPS, Zn and their interaction (Appendix table 1). The highest proportion of medium sized tuber (45.00%) was obtained from the combined application of 180 kg of NPS

ha⁻¹ and 450 ppm of Zinc. However, the smallest proportion of medium sized tuber (31.73 %) was obtained from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer increased medium sized tubers by 41.82 and 10.13% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 8). This could be due to the abundant supply of nutrients to the potato crop that contributes to vigorous growth, increased canopy size, and expanded leaf area. These factors enhance photosynthesis, ultimately leading to the production of medium tubers.

In line with this, Jafer (2023) explained that the greatest proportion of medium sized tuber was obtained from the application of 150 kg ha⁻¹ NPS. On the other hand, the smallest proportion of medium sized tuber was recorded from the control treatment. Gedefa *et al.* (2022) also stated that the highest proportion of medium sized tuber was recorded by the application of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer whereas the lowest proportion of medium sized tuber was obtained from the control treatment. In addition, Asfaw *et al.* (2021) described that the greatest proportion of medium sized tuber was obtained from the application of 250 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer while the smallest proportion of medium sized tuber was recorded from the control treatment. Sharma *et al.* (1988) reported that application of zinc increased the number of medium sized tubers.

4.4.8.3. Large sized tuber

The proportion of large sized tubers of potato was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) influenced by the main effects NPS, Zn and their interaction (Appendix table 1). The highest proportion of large sized tuber (50.94%) was obtained from the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm of Zinc which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 675 ppm of Zinc. On the other, hand the smallest large sized tuber (27.43%) was obtained from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer increased large sized tubers by 85.71 and 11.47% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 8). This could be due to the abundant supply of nutrients to the potato crop that contributes to vigorous growth, increased canopy size, and expanded leaf area. These factors enhance photosynthesis, ultimately leading to the production of larger tubers.

In agreement with this, Jafer (2023); Gedefa *et al.* (2022) and Lakew and Fanuel (2021) reported that the highest proportion of large sized tuber was obtained from 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer whereas the lowest proportion of large sized tuber from the control treatment.

Banerjee *et al.* (2016) observed that with Zn application there was significant improvement in tuber number for bigger sized potato which results in higher tuber yield of large sized potato. Sharma *et al.* (1988) also noted that application of zinc increased the number of large sized tubers.

Fertilizer rates		Tuber size distribution						
NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)	Zinc (ppm)	Small size tubers (%)	Medium Size tubers (%)	Large size tubers (%)				
0	0	40.84 ^a	31.73 ^j	27.43 ^k				
	225	28.71 ^b	38.63 ^{d-g}	32.66 ^j				
	450	22.50 ^{cd}	38.26 ^{e-h}	39.24 ^{gh}				
	675	23.43 ^{cd}	36.92^{g-i}	39.71 ^g				
90	0	27.79 ^b	35.73 ⁱ	36.48 ⁱ				
	225	24.37 ^c	37.22^{f-i}	38.41 ^h				
	450	21.31 ^d	37.33 ^{f-i}	41.36 ^f				
	675	22.18 ^{cd}	36.39 ^{hi}	41.44^{f}				
180	0	13.44 ^f	40.86 ^{bc}	45.70 ^c				
	225	9.88 ^g	42.33 ^b	47.79 ^b				
	450	4.06 ^h	45.00 ^a	50.94 ^a				
	675	7.88 ^g	42.24 ^b	49.89 ^a				
270	0	17.97 ^e	39.49 ^{c-e}	42.54 ^{ef}				
	225	18.50 ^e	38.61 ^{d-g}	42.89 ^e				
	450	16.10 ^e	40.42 ^{b-d}	43.48 ^{de}				
	675	16.61 ^e	39.09 ^{c-f}	44.31 ^d				
DMRT(significance)		***	***	***				
CV (%)		7.73	2.91	1.76				

Table 8. Effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizer rates on tubers size distribution based on weight of potato tuber at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not a significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV(%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.5. Quality parameters of potato

4.5.1. Tuber dry matter content

The analysis of variance indicated that tuber dry matter content was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) affected by the main effect of NPS fertilizer, zinc and their interaction (Appendix Table1). The highest tuber dry matter content (28.04%) was recorded by the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc while the lowest tuber dry matter content (18.68%) was recorded from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer increased tuber dry matter content by 50.11 and 15.25% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 9). The highest tuber dry matter could be attributed to the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc could be attributed to the more partitioning of photosysnthates towards tuber from foliage that resulted in a higher tuber dry matter production.

In agreement with this, Jafer (2023) and Feysel (2020) observed that the highest tuber dry matter content was obtained due to the application of 150 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer whereas the lowest dry matter content was obtained from the control treatment. Debebe (2023); Gedefa *et al.* (2022) and Mekuannet *et al.* (2022) also reported that the highest dry matter content was produced due to the application of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer whereas the smallest dry matter content was obtained from the control treatment.

Rahman *et al.* (2018) found that the highest dry matter content (20.7 and 21.1% for 2013-14 and 2014-15, respectively) was noted by the application of 560 ppm Zn while the minimum dry matter content (18.7 and 18.8% for 2013-14 and 2014-15, respectively) was noted from the control treatment. Ahmed *et al.* (2011) also observed that maximum dry matter content of potato tubers was due to the foliar application of zinc at a rate of 300 ppm. However, the lowest dry matter content of potato tubers was recorded from the control treatment.

4.5.2. Specific gravity

The specific gravity of tubers was significantly ($p \le 0.001$) affected by NPS, zinc fertilizer and their interaction (Appendix Table 1). The highest specific gravity (1.096g/cm³) was obtained from the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 225 and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 675 ppm zinc. On the other hand, the lowest specific gravity (1.058 g/cm³) was recorded from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer

increased specific gravity by 3.59 and 0.74% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 9). This could probably be due to its association with the increased stored assimilates in potato tubers.

Similarly, Jafer (2023) and Feysel (2020) confirmed that the highest specific gravity was registered from 150 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. However, the lowest specific gravity was obtained from the control treatment. Debebe (2023); Gedefa *et al.* (2022) and Mekuannet *et al.* (2022) also described that the highest specific gravity was produced due to the application of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. On the other hand, the smallest specific gravity was obtained from the control treatment.

Ahmed *et al.* (2011) indicated that the highest specific gravity of potato tubers was obtained from the highest foliar application of zinc at a rate of 300 ppm. However, the lowest specific gravity was recorded from the control treatment.

4.5.3. Tuber starch content

The analysis of variance indicated that the main effects NPS fertilizer, zinc and their interaction had a significant ($p \le 0.001$) effect on tuber starch content (Appendix Table 1). The highest tuber starch content (16.92%) was resulted from the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm zinc which was statistically similar with the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS with 225 and 675 ppm zinc and 270 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 675 ppm zinc whereas the lowest tuber starch content (9.42%) was recorded from the control treatment. The combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ of NPS and 450 ppm zinc fertilizer increased tuber starch content by 79.62 and 9.44% as compared to the control treatment and 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer application, respectively (Table 9). The increase in starch content in response to the application of NPS and Zinc fertilizer could be attributed to enhanced growth and development as well as better photo assimilation due to high nutrient uptake.

In line with this, Debebe (2023) and Mekuannet *et al.* (2022) demonstrated that the highest tuber starch content was obtained from the application of 200 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer. On the other hand, the smallest tuber starch content was obtained from the control treatment. Jafer (2023) and Feysel (2020) also reported that the highest tuber starch content was registered from 150 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer whereas the lowest tuber starch content was obtained from the control treatment.

Ahmed *et al.* (2011) indicated that the highest starch content of potato tubers was obtained from the highest foliar application of zinc at a rate of 300 ppm whereas the lowest starch content of tuber was recorded from the control treatment.

Fertilizer rates		Tuber quality related traits (%)						
NPS	Zinc	Tuber dry	Specific	Tuber starch				
(kg ha^{-1})	(ppm)	Matter (%)	Gravity (gcm ⁻³)	Content (%)				
0	0	18.68 ^h	1.058^{i}	9.42 ⁱ				
	225	23.77 ^g	1.066 ^h	10.95 ^h				
	450	24.75 ^{d-f}	1.069 ^h	11.61 ^h				
	675	24.1 ^{fg}	1.072 ^{gh}	12.21 ^{gh}				
90	0	23.82 ^{fg}	1.072 ^{gh}	12.14 ^{gh}				
	225	23.95 ^{fg}	1.077 ^{fg}	13.14 ^{fg}				
	450	24.49 ^{e-g}	1.08 ^{ef}	13.74 ^{ef}				
	675	25.38 ^{cd}	1.084 ^{de}	14.53 ^{de}				
180	0	24.33 ^{fg}	1.088 ^{b-d}	15.46 ^{b-d}				
	225	25.35 ^{cd}	1.091 ^{a-c}	15.93 ^{a-c}				
	450	28.04 ^a	1.096 ^a	16.92 ^a				
	675	26.46 ^b	1.092 ^{ab}	16.26 ^{ab}				
270	0	24.13 ^{fg}	1.083 ^{de}	14.47 ^{de}				
	225	25.16 ^{c-e}	1.085 ^{c-e}	14.87 ^{c-e}				
	450	25.70 ^c	1.088 ^{b-d}	15.46 ^{b-d}				
	675	26.51 ^b	1.090 ^{a-c}	15.86 ^{a-c}				
DMRT(significance)		***	***	***				
CV (%)		1.75	0.33	5.07				

Table 9. Effect of blended NPS and Zinc fertilizer rates on tuber quality related traits of potato at Debre Derhan during 2023 cropping season.

Mean values sharing the same letter in each column are not significantly different at 5 % probability level. CV(%) = Coefficient of variation.

4.6. Partial budget analysis

The results of partial budget analysis revealed that the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm Zn provided the highest net benefit of 1,122,300 ETB ha⁻¹ with acceptable marginal rate of return 3304.35% which generated (Birr 684,360 ha⁻¹) more as compared to the control treatment (Table 10). Based on this result, 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm Zn resulted in the highest adjustable marketable tuber yield 38.205 t ha⁻¹ which is recommended for profitable products to the farmers in the study area.

Treatments	5		Variables	S			
NPS *	Zinc	AVMY	AdMY	GFB	TVC	NB	MRR
kg ha ⁻¹	ppm	t ha ⁻¹	t ha ⁻¹	(ETB/ ha)	(ETB/ ha)	(ETB/ ha)	MRR (%) - 3597.83 3447.83 2117.39 2999.03 1517.39 2482.61 D -8827.27 2365.22 0 3304.35 0 -1430.43
0	0	16.22	14.598	437940	0	437940	-
	225	21.89	19.701	591030	4140	586890	3597.83
	450	27.33	24.597	737910	8280	729630	3447.83
	675	30.73	27.657	829710	12420	NC NB ETB/ ha) (ETB/ ha) 437940 140 586890 280 729630 2420 817290 785 678285 1925 741105 6065 843885 0205 879705 5570 887580 9710 985500 3355 867915 27495 894015 1019475 55775	2117.39
90	0	25.41	22.869	686070	7785	678285	2999.03
	225	27.89	25.101	753030	11925	741105	1517.39
	450	31.85	28.665	859950	16065	843885	2482.61
	675	33.33	29.997	899910	20205	879705	D
180	0	33.45	30.105	903150	15570	887580	-8827.27
	225	37.23	33.507	1005210	19710	985500	2365.22
	450	42.45	38.205	1146150	23850	1122300	3304.35
	675	40.41	36.369	1091070	27990	1063080	-1430.43
270	0	33.01	29.709	891270	23355	867915	D
	225	34.13	30.717	921510	27495	894015	D
	450	38.93	35.037	1051110	31635	1019475	D
	675	33.91	30.519	915570	35775	879795	D

Table 10. Summary of partial budget and marginal rate of return analysis for response of potato production to NPS and Zinc fertilizer rate.

NPS kg ha⁻¹= blended fertilizer containing Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Sulfur, Zinc ppm =, MY t ha⁻¹ = Marketable yield, AdMY t ha⁻¹ = Adjusted marketable yield, GFB (ETB/ ha) = Gross field benefit, TVC (ETB/ ha) = Total variable cost, NB (ETB/ ha) = Net benefit, D = dominated and MRR (%) = marginal rate return. selling price of potato at farm gate = 30 ETB kg⁻¹; purchasing costs of NPS fertilizer = 36.5 ETB kg⁻¹; cost of Zn = 1600 ETB kg⁻¹; labor cost for fertilizer application = 500 ETB per man day.

4.7. Correlation analysis

The correlation analysis was performed to determine a simple correlation coefficient between phenological, growth, yield, yield components and quality parameters as a result of applied NPS and Zinc fertilizer. Plant height was significantly and positively correlated with days to 50% flowering (r= 0.59^{***}), days to physiological maturity (r= 0.58^{***}), main stem number (r= 0.86^{***}) and number of branches (r = 0.86^{***}) (Table 11). This might be due to increasing the level both NPS and Zinc application increased in plant height, which brings increment in the number of branch and main stem number and the increase in the size of plant parts resulted in staying as vegetative which brings an extended day to flowering and maturity.

Marketable tuber yield increment was found to be strongly and positively associated with main stem number ($r = 0.82^{***}$), plant height ($r = 0.78^{***}$), number of branches ($r = 0.66^{***}$), days to maturity ($r=0.53^{***}$), average tuber weight ($r= 0.85^{***}$) and marketable tuber number ($r = 0.73^{***}$) (Table 11). This might be due to the increase in main stem number leads to an increment in the number of branches which results in increase in the number of profuse leaves this advocate extended days to physiological maturity.

Total tuber yield increment was found to be strongly and positively related with plant height $(r=0.77^{***})$, main stem number $(r=0.81^{***})$, days to maturity $(r=0.53^{***})$, average tuber weight $(r=0.84^{***})$, total tuber number per plant $(r=0.71^{***})$, marketable tuber yield $(r=0.99^{***})$ and marketable tuber number per plant $(r=0.71^{***})$. The possible reason for the observed association between total tuber yield and those parameters could be as Nitrogen, Phosphorus, Sulfur, zinc and other important nutrients increased in the soil due to NPS fertilizers. The soil would be more fertile and plants get sufficient nutrients, produce more leaf numbers and more vigorous growth as well as produce more photosynthesis, produce sufficient carbohydrates to increase the yield of potato. This results are in line with Zelalem Ayichew *et al.* (2009) who reported that total tuber yield was strongly associated with average tuber weight and total tuber number signifying that the increase in both tuber number and size substantially contributed to increased tuber yields.

Concerning the tuber quality, specific gravity is highly significantly (p < 0.001) and positively associated with average tuber weight ($r=0.91^{***}$), marketable tuber number ($r=0.8^{***}$), marketable tuber yield ($r=0.86^{***}$), and total tuber yield ($r=0.85^{***}$). Likewise, dry matter content was also highly significantly and positively correlated with average tuber weight ($r=0.73^{***}$), total tuber number ($r=0.71^{***}$), marketable tuber number ($r=0.71^{***}$).

tuber yield ($r=0.81^{***}$) and total tuber yield ($r=0.81^{***}$). According to Amir Najm *et al.* (2010), the increase in the NPS fertilizer might have enhanced chlorophyll concentration, the photosynthetic rates, the leaf expansion, the total number of leaves and finally the dry matter accumulation.

PARA	DE	DF	DM	MSN	ANB	PHT	ATW	MTN	UTN	TTN	MTY	UNTY	TTY	LTS	MTS	STS	TDM	SPG	TSC
DE	1																		
DF	0.189	1																	
DM	0.37	0.432**	1																
MSN	0.351	0.372**	0.579***	1															
ANB	0.329	0.633***	0.528***	0.632***	1														
PHT	0.334	0.59***	0.584***	0.862***	0.859***	1													
ATW	0.251	0.265 ^{ns}	0.326*	0.876***	0.611***	0.802***	1												
MTN	0.263	0.671***	0.530***	0.744***	0.861***	0.913***	0.710***	1											
UTN	-0.230	-0.432**	-0.3189*	-0.345*	-0.503**	-0.483**	-0.332*	-0.604***	1										
TTN	0.248	0.659***	0.525***	0.756****	0.855***	0.916***	0.721***	0.989***	-0.482**	1									
MTY	0.242	0.335*	0. 0.525***	0.817***	0.656***	0.776***	0.845***	0.729***	-0.377**	0.733***	1								
UNTY	-0.005	-0.25 ^{ns}	-0.133 ^{ns}	-0.345*	-0.234 ^{ns}	-0.326*	-0.359*	-0.395**	0.257 ^{ns}	-0.388**	- 0.411**	1							
TTY	0.254	0.315*	0.532***	0.807***	0.655***	0.768***	0.835***	0.708***	- 0.358*	0.713***	0.990***	-0.28 ^{ns}	1						
LTS	0.296	0.517**	0.538***	0.831***	0.779***	0.854***	0.866***	0.834***	-0.423**	0.84***	0.882***	-0.471**	0.857***	1					
MTS	0.138	0.419**	0.373**	0.672***	0.635***	0.719***	0.721***	0.682***	-0.449**	0.668***	0.752***	-0.470**	0.72***	0.849***	1				
STS	-0.25	-0.500**	-0.497**	-0.816***	-0.756***	-0.836***	-0.846***	-0.809***	0.448**	-0.808***	-0.867***	0.489**	-0.838***	-0.982***	-0.934***	1			
TDM	0.295	0.447**	0.499**	0.743***	0.674***	0.715***	0.732***	0.709***	-0.364*	0.714***	0.808***	-0.294*	0.806***	0.846***	0.792***	-0.857***	1		
SPG	0.308	0.418**	0.492**	0.920***	0.713***	0.875***	0.906***	0.797***	-0.342*	0.814***	0.862***	-0.379**	0.850***	0.885***	0.719***	-0.857***	0.768***	1	
TSC	0.308	0.418**	0.492**	0.920***	0.713 ^{ns}	0.875***	0.906***	0.797***	-0.342*	0.814***	0.862***	-0.379**	0.850****	0.885***	0.719***	-0.857***	0.768***	1.00***	1

Table 11. Correlation analysis of phenological, growth, yield, yield components and quality parameters of potato as affected by application of NPS and Zinc fertilizers.

Where: PAR=parameter, DE=days to 50% emergency, DF=days to 50% flowering, DM=days to 75% physiological maturity, MSN=main stem number palnt⁻¹, NOB=number of branch plant⁻¹, PH=plant height (cm), ATW=average tuber weight (g/tuber),MTN=marketable tuber number plant⁻¹, UNTN=unmarketable tuber number plant⁻¹, TTN = total tuber number plant⁻¹, MTY=marketable tuber yield(t ha⁻¹),UNTY=unmarketable tuber yield (t ha⁻¹),TTY=total tuber yield (t ha⁻¹),DM=dry matter of tuber (%), SG=specific gravity (g/m³), SC=starch content of tuber (g/100g), *** significant at P ≤ 0.001 probability level, ** = significant at P ≤ 0.01 probability level, * = significant at P ≤ 0.05 probability level and ns = non-significant probability level.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) is one of the most widely cultivated vegetable crops in the highlands of Ethiopia including Debre Berhan. Farmers in the study area produce potato both as food and cash crop under irrigation and rain fed conditions. The existing potato productivity in Debre Berhan is very low despite the high potential for increased production and yield of the crop. This is due to constraints such as increasing cost of fertilizer, a few trends of farmers using poor agronomic practice, poor soil fertility, poor cultural practices, diseases and pests are the critical problems observed in most farmers' field. Thus, to improve the production and productivity of the crop, soil fertility management has to be the primary role of the producers.

Therefore, a study was conducted to investigate the effect of NPS fertilizer and zinc on growth, yield, yield components and quality of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) at Debre Berhan, North Shewa, Ethiopia. The experiment was carried out with four levels of NPS (0, 90, 180 and 270 kg ha⁻¹) and four levels of zinc (0, 225, 450 and 675 ppm) in 4 x 4 factorial arrangement laid out in randomized complete block design with three replications and "Belete" potato was used as experimental material. The combined application of 270 kg ha⁻¹ blended NPS fertilizer and 450 ppm zinc resulted in the highest main stem number (6.03), plant height (81.83 cm) and number of branches (16.00).On the other hand the combined application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS fertilizer and 450 ppm zinc resulted in the highest average tuber weight (88.60g tuber⁻¹), marketable tuber number per plant (20.13), total tuber number (23.54), marketable tuber yield (42.45 t ha⁻¹), total tuber yield (46.06 t ha⁻¹), tuber dry matter (28.04), specific gravity (1.096) and tuber starch content (1.096).

The partial budget analysis revealed that the application of 180 kg ha⁻¹ NPS and 450 ppm Zn resulted in the highest net benefit of (1,122,300 ETB ha⁻¹) with the acceptable marginal rate of return (3304.35%) which generated (Birr 684,360 ha⁻¹) more as compared to the control treatment. Hence, for economical potato production in the study area and similar agro-ecologies, it is advisable to apply 180 kg NPS ha⁻¹ and 450 ppm Zn fertilizer. However, as the results are limited to one season and location, further study should be done in the study area and also in different locations and seasons to establish the conclusive recommendations so as to improve the production and productivity of potato in the study area.

6. REFERENCES

- Aasen, T. (1987). Zinc application to cereals, potatoes and red clover on a heavily limited zinc deficient soil in Norway. Dev. plant soil sci. 29:161-171.
- Abebe Chindi. (2019). Review of Potato Research and Development in Ethiopia: Achievements and Future Prospects. *Journal of Biology*, *Agriculture and Healthcare* ISSN 2224-3208 (Paper) ISSN 2225-093X (Online) Vol.9, No.19, 2019.
- Abraham Gudeta. (2019). Effect of Blended NPS Fertilizer Rates on Yield, Yield Related Traits and Tuber Quality of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Varieties at Haramaya, eastern Ethiopia. M.Sc. Thesis, Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Ahmad, N., Khan, M.A., Khan, N.A. and Binyamin, R. (2011). Identification of resistance source in potato germ plasm against PVX and PVY. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*. 43 (6):2745-2749.
- Ahmed, A. A., Abd El-Baky, M. M. H., Zaki, M. F.and Abd El-Aal, F. S. (2011). Effect of foliar application of active yeast extract and zinc on growth, yield and quality of potato plant (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). J. Appl. Sci. Res 7: 2479-88.
- Ahmed, M., Ara, N., Aman, F., Farook, A., Asghar, M. (2024). Effect of Iron and Zinc on Growth and Yield of Chili (Capsicum Annuum L.). *Journal of Agriculture & Education Research*. 2(2), 1-9.
- Alam, M. N., Jahan, M. S., Ali, M. K., Ashraf, M. A. and Islam, M. K. (2007). Effect of Vermicompost and Chemical Fertilizers on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Potato in Barind Soils of Bangladesh. *Journal of Applied Sciences Research*, 3:1879-1888.
- Al-Bayati, H. J. ., and Ali, K. R. (2019). Effect of Planting Depth and Zinc Sulphate Spraying on Growth and Yield of Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.). Basrah Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 32, 90–97.

- Alemayehu Tilahun, Niguse Dechasa, and Tamado Tana. (2015). Response of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) yield and yield components to nitrogen fertilizer and planting density at Haramaya, Eastern Ethiopia. Journal of Plant Sciences, 3(6):320-328.
- Alemkinders, C.J. and Struik, P.C. (1994). Photo thermal response of sympodial development and flowering in potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) under controlled conditions. *Netherland Journal Agricultural Sciences*.42: 311-329.
- Alemu Lelago, Tekalign Mamo, Wassie Haile and Hailu Shiferaw. (2016). Assessment and Mapping of Status and Spatial Distribution of Soil Macronutrients in Southern Ethiopia. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 11(44): 4504-4516.
- Aliye, N., Fininsa, C. and Hiskias, Y. (2008). Evaluation of rhizosphere bacterial antagonists for their potential to bio protect potato (*Solanum tuberosum*. L) Against bacterial wilt (Ralstonia solanacearum). *Biological Control*, 47(3), pp.282-288.
- Amin Ababiya Ababulgu. (2018). Integrated use of NPS blended fertilizer and cattle manure on growth, yield and quality of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) under Dabo Ghibe Kebele, Seka Werada of Jimma Zone, Southwest Ethiopia (Doctoral dissertation, Jimma University).
- Amir, N. Ali, Hadi M.R.H.S., Fazeli, F., Taghi, D. M. and Shamorady R. (2010). Effect of utilization of organic and inorganic nitrogen source on the potato shoots dry matter, leaf area index and plant height, during middle stage of growth. *International Journal of Agricultural and Biological Sciences*, 1: 26-29.
- Anabousi, O.A.N., Hattar, B.I. and Suwwan, M.A. (1997). Effect of rate and source of nitrogen on growth, yield and quality of potato under Jordan Valley conditions. *Dirasat Agric. Sci.* 24(2): 242-259.
- Anonymous. (2013). Potato's production guide. Agriculture, Forester, and Fisheries, Republic of South Africa.

- Arega Amdie. (2018). Response of Potato (Solanum tubersum L.) To Blend NPS and Potassium Fertilizers at Bore, Southern Ethiopia. M.Sc. Thesis, Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Asfaw Berhanu Sadebo, Gobeze Loha Yada, Asfaw Kifle Wadole and Abrham Bosha. (2021).
 Response of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Varieties to Blended Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Sulfur Fertilizer Rate at Kokate, Southern Region. *Asian Journal of Agricultural and Horticultural Research*, 8(4), 73–85.
- Banerjee H, Sarkar S, Deb P, Dutta SK, Ray K, Rana L, Majumdar K. (2016). Impact of zinc fertilization on potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) yield, zinc use efficiency, quality and economics in Entisol of West Bengal. *J Indian Society Soil Sci*; 64(2):176-182.
- Barczak, B. and Nowak, K. (2014). Effect of sulfur fertilization on the content of macro elements and their ionic ratios in potato tubers. Department of the agricultural chemistry University of Technology and life sciences in Bydgoszcz, *Journal of Element ology*, pp. 37-47.
- Barczak, B. and Nowak, K. (2015). Effect of Sulphur fertilization on the content of microelements and their ionic ratios in potato tubers. *Journal of Element ology*, 20(1):30-47.
- Bari, M.S., Rabbani, M.G., Rahman, M.S., Islam, M. J. and Hoque, A.T.M.R. (2001). Effect of zinc, boron, sulphur and magnesium on the growth and yield of potato. *Pakistan J. Bio. Sci.* 4: 1090-1093.
- Belay Dereje and Nwankwo Chibuzo. (2021). Nutritional composition and biochemical properties of *Solanum tuberosum*. *African Journal of Food Science*, 15 (12): 367-379.
- Berga Lemaga, Gebremedhin Woldegiorgis, Teriessa Jalleta and Bereke Tsehai Tuku. (1994).
 Potato improvement research. In: Edward, H. and Lemma Desalegn (eds). Proceedings of the second national horticulture workshop of Ethiopia held in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- Berihun Baye and Gebremedhin Woldegiogis. (2012). Potato Research and Development in Ethiopia: Achievements and Trends, pp: 35-44. In: Proceedings of the National Workshop on Seed Potato Tuber Production and Dissemination, 12-14 March 2012, Bahir Dar, Ethiopia.

- Bezabih Emana and Hadera Gebremedhin. (2007). Constraints and opportunities of horticulture production and marketing in eastern Ethiopia. DCG report.
- Bezabih Emana and Mengistu Nigussie. (2011). Potato value chain analysis and development in Ethiopia, case of Tigray and SNNP Regions. *International Potato Center*, Addis Ababa Ethiopia. pp. 54-71.
- Booker Tate Limited. (1991). Tropical soil manual: A handbook for soil survey and Agricultural land.
- Bouyoucos, G.J. (1962). Hydrometer Method Improved for Making Particle Size Analyses of Soils. *Agronomy Journal.* 54 (5):464-465.
- Brady NC, Weil RR. (2008). the nature and properties of soils. 14th ed. Pearson Prentice Hall, NJ.
- Bremner, J. M., and Mulvaney, C. S. (1982). Nitrogen-total. *Methods of soil analysis: part 2 chemical and microbiological properties*, 9, 595-624.
- Bruce RC and GE Rayment. (1982). Analytical methods and interpretations used by the Agricultural Chemistry Branch for Soil and Land Use Surveys. Queensland Department of Primary Industries. Bulletin QB8 (2004), Indooroopilly, Queensland.
- Burkill, H. M. (1995). The useful plants of west tropical Africa. Vols, 1-3.
- Cakmak, I. (2008). Enrichment of cereal grains with zinc: agronomic or genetic bio fortification? *Plant Soil*, 302:1-17.
- Carey, G. (1998). Geometry. Multiple Regression and Path Analysis-15.Available at: psych.colorado.edu/~carey/Courses/PSYC7291/handouts/pathcalis.pdf (Accessed on June 2016).
- Choudhary, R. (2013). Impact of nitrogen and Sulphur fertilization on yield, quality and uptake of nutrient by maize in Southern Rajasthan." *Annals of Plant and Soil Research*, 15:118-121.
- CIMMYT (Centro International de Majoramento de Maize YTrigo). (1988). Farm Agronomic to farmer's recommendation. *An Economic Training Manual. Completely revised edition.D.F.Mexico.*51p.

- CIP (International Potato Center). (2008). Procedures for standard evaluation trials of advanced potato clones. An International Cooperators Guide.
- CIP (International Potato Centre). (2017). Harnessing potato and sweet potato's power for food security, nutrition, and climate resilience. Lima, Peru. International Potato Center. Lima, Peru.
- CSA (Central Statistical Agency). (2021). Agricultural sample survey 2020/2021. Vol.1. Report on area and production of major crops (private peasant holdings, meher season).
 Statistical Bulletin 590, Central Statistical Agency. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- CSA (Central Statistics Agency). (2019). The Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, Agricultural Sample Survey 2018/19 (2011 E.C.) Vol. I. Report on Area and production of major Crops (Private peasant holdings "Meher' 'season), Statistical Bulletin 586, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- Cultus, H. (2013). Does the Sulfur fertilization modify magnesium and calcium content in potato tubers (*Solanum tuberosum* L) Hanna Klikocka, Aleksandra G łowacka, 12(5):41–53.
- Day, P. R. (1965). Particle fractionation and particle-size analysis. Methods of Soil Analysis: Part 1 Physical and Mineralogical Properties, Including Statistics of Measurement and Sampling, 9, 545-567.
- De La Morena, I. A., Guillen, Garcia., Del Morel, L. F. (1994). Yield development in potatoes as influenced by cultivars and the timing and level of nitrogen fertilizer. *American Potato Journal*. 71: 165-173.
- Debebe Petros Lafamo. (2023). Effects of Biochar and NPS Fertilizer on Yield and Yield Related Traits of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) At Haramaya, Eastern Ethiopia. MSc Thesis, Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Dechassa Nigussie, Schenk, M. K., Norbert Claassen and Norbert Claassen. (2003). Phosphorus Efficiency of Cabbage (Brassica oleraceae L. var. capitata), Carrot (Daucus carota L.), and Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L). *Plant and Soil*. 250: 215 - 224.

- Devaux, A., Goffart, J. P., Kromann, P., Piedra, J. A., Polar, V. and Hareau, G. (2021). The potato of the future opportunities and challenges in sustainable agri-food systems. *Potato Research*, 64:681-720.
- Dolores, M., Torres, A., Parreno, W.C. (2009). Thermal processing and quality optimization. *In Advances in potato chemistry and technology* (pp. 163-219).
- El-Shafe, F. S., and El-Gamaily, E. E. (2002). Effect of organic manure, sulfur and microelements on growth, bulb yield, storability and chemical composition of onion plants. *Minufya Journal of Agricultural Research*, 27 (2), 407-424.
- Ethiopia Soil Information System (Ethiosis). (2014). Soil fertility status and fertilizer recommendation atlas for SNNPR state, Ethiopia
- Ethiopian Agricultural Research Organization (EARO). (2004). Directory of released crop varieties and their recommended cultural practices. *Ethiopian Agricultural Research Organization, Addis Ababa*, 36.
- Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research. (2007). Crop technologies guideline. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- EthioSIS (Ethiopia Soil Information System). (2015). Ethiopian Soil Information System. Soil Analysis Report. *Agricultural Transformation Agency* (Unpublished).
- Ewing, E.E. (1997). Potato. In: The Physiology of Vegetable Crops (Ed.), CAB International, U.K. PP, 295-344.
- Fageria, N.K., Baligar, V.C, and Jones, C.A. (2011). Growth and Mineral Nutrition of Field Crops. 3rd Edn. *Taylor and Francis Group*, NY, pp. 530.
- FAO (Food and Agricultural Organization). (1984). Highland reclamation study Ethiopia. Final report volume 1 and 2 Rome.
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organization. (2008). Crops and Drops. Land and Water Development Division. Rome, Italy.
- FAO. (2009). Sustainable potato production, guidelines for developing countries. FAO, Rome.

FAO. (2019). Potato World Production and Consumption. FAOSTAT Database.

- FAOSTAT (Food and Agriculture Organization Data of Statistics). (2021). Food and agriculture organization data of statistics. Rome.
- Fayera Wakjira. (2017). Yield and yield components of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) as influenced by planting density and rate of nitrogen application at Holeta, West Oromia Region of Ethiopia. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 12(26):2242-2254.
- Feysel Abdurahman. (2020). Effect of NPS and chicken manure on potato (*Solanum tuberosum*L.) growth , yield component and yield at Haramaya, Eastern Ethiopia, MSc Thesis, Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Firew Gebremariam, Nigussie Dechassa and Wassu Mohammed. (2016). Response of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) to nitrogen and phosphorus application under irrigation in Dire Dawa, Eastern Ethiopia. Journal of Natural Sciences Research, 6(7):19-37.
- Frezgi Asgedom. (2007). Effect of planting density and nitrogen application on yield and yield components of potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) at Enderta, Southern Tigray, and Ethiopia. MSc Thesis, Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Fuglie K.O. (2007). Priorities for potato research in developing countries. Results of a survey. *American Potato Research Journal*; 84: 353-365.
- Gangele P, Bajpai R, Kashyap A, Rai S. Ahirwar SK. (2020). Effect of bio fertilizers and levels of zinc and potassium on growth of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *J Pharmacog Phytochem* 9(5): 863-866.
- Gebre Endale and Gebremedhin Woldegiorgis. (2001). Effects of spatial arrangement on tuber yields of some potato cultivars. *Afr. Crop Sci. J*; 9: 67-76.
- Gebremedhin Woldegiorgis, Endale Gebre and Berga Lemaga. (2008). Overview of trends in root and tuber crops research in Ethiopia. Root and Tuber crops: The untapped resources, IAR, Addis Ababa Ethiopia, pp.1-5.

- Gedefa Moreda Mijena, Andargachew Gedebo, Hussien Mohammed Beshir, Ashenafi Haile. (2022). Ensuring food security of smallholder farmers through improving productivity and nutrition of potatoes. *Research Square*, 1:1-34.
- Getachew Kahsay. (2016). Response of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Varieties to Nitrogen and Blended Fertilizer under Irrigation at Maichew, Southern Tigray, Ethiopia. M.Sc thesis, Haramaya University, Haramaya.
- Getachew Tabor and Mela A. (2000). The role of SHDI in potato seed production in Ethiopia. Experience from Alemaya integrated rural development project. Proceedings of the 5th *African Potato Association Conference, Kampala, Uganda; pp*: 109-112.
- Getu Beyene. (1998). Yield, quality, and nitrogen uptake of potato as influenced by rate and time of nitrogen. Department of plant sciences, College of Agriculture, Haramaya University, Haramaya.
- Gildemacher P., Kaguongo W., Ortiz O., Tesfaye Abebe, Woldegiorgis Gebremedhin, Wagoire
 W., Kakuhenzire R., Kinyae P., Nyongesa M. and Struik P. (2009). *Improving Potato Production in Kenya, Uganda and Ethiopia: Potato Research;* 52 (2): 173-205.
- Gomez, K. A., and Gomez, A. A. (1984). *Statistical procedures for agricultural research*. John wiley & sons.
- Gómez, M. I., Magnitskiy, S. and Rodríguez, L. E. (2018). Potential yield and efficiency of N and K uptake in tubers of cvs. Capiro and Suprema (Solanum tuberosum L) Group Andigenum. *Agronomía Colombiana*, 36 (2): 126–134.
- Grant, C.A., Flatten, D.N., Tomasiewicz, D.J., and Sheppard, S.C. (200. The importance of early season phosphorus nutrition. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*. 81:211-224.
- Gusha, S. (2014). From potato fields to potato sacks. Pastoral response. Anglican Diocese of Harare: Zimbabwe.
- Hafeez B, Khanif YM, Saleem M. (2013). Role of zinc in plant nutrition- A Review. *American journal of experimental agriculture* 3(2): 374-391.
- Hailu Shiferaw. (2014). Digital soil mapping: Soil fertility status and fertilizer recommendation for Ethiopian agricultural land (Conference paper). Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- Haneklaus, S., Bloem, E., Schnug, E., Luit, J., Kok, D. and Stulen, I. (2007). Sulfur. In Barker, A.V. and Pilbeam, D.*J* (*Eds.*), *Handbook of plant nutrition pp.* 51–90.
- Hashemy, M. K., Malakoty, M. J., and Tabatabaey, V. S. J. (1998). Effect of foliar application of micronutrients in quality and quantity potato crop in Eastern Azarbyjan Province. J. Sci. Res. Soil Water, 12, 44-55.
- Hassanpanah, D., Hosienzadeh, A. A., Dahdar, B., Allahyari, N., and Imanparast, L. (2009). Effects of different rates of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers on yield and yield components of Savalan potato cultivar mini-tubers. J. Agril. Environ.7 (2): 415-418.
- Haverkort, A. J., Van Koesveld, M. J., Schepers, H. T. A. M., Wijnands, J. H. M., Wustman, R., and Zhang, X. X. (2012). *Potato prospects for Ethiopia: on the road to value addition* (No. 528). Praktijkonderzoek Plant & Omgeving.
- Helen Teshome. (2016). A Review on potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) production situations in Ethiopia. *Food Science and Quality Management*. 57: 2224-6088.
- Hijmans, R. J. (2001). Global distribution of the potato crop. American Journal of Potato Research, 78:403-412.
- Hirpa, A., Meuwissen, M.P., Tesfaye, A., Lommen, W.J., Lansink, A.O., Tsegaye, A. and Struik, P.C. 2010. Analysis of seed potato systems in Ethiopia. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 87: 537-552.
- Hoops, R.W. and Plaisted, R.L. (1987). Principles of cultivar development. Volume 2. Crop species. *New York: Macmillan Publishing Company*.
- Hopkins, B., Hopkins, B. G., Horneck, D. A. & Macguidwin, A. E. (2014). Improving Phosphorus Use Efficiency through Potato Rhizosphere Modification and Extension. *American Journal* of Potato Research, 91(2), 161–174.
- Hopkins, B.G., Hansen, N. C. (2019). Phosphorus management in high-yield systems. *Journal* of Environmental Quality, 48(5): 1265-1280.

- Hue, Y., Ye, X., Shi, L., Duan, H. and Xu, F. (2010). Genotypic differences in root morphology and phosphorus uptake kinetics in Brassica napus under low phosphorus supply. *Journal of Plant Nutrition. 33: 889-901.*
- Israel Zewide, Ali Mohammed and Solomon Tulu. (2012). Effect of different rate of nitrogen and phosphorus on yield and yield components of potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) at Masha district, South West Ethiopia. *International Journal of Soil Science*. 7 (4): 146-156.
- Jafer Abdurehim. (2023). Response of Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) To NPS Fertilizer and Farmyard Manure under Supplemental Irrigation at Damota, Haramaya District, Eastern Ethiopia. MSc Thesis, Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Jat, S.R., Patel, B. J., Shivran, A.C., Kuri, B. R. and Jat, G. (2013). Effect of phosphorus and sulphur levels on growth and yield of under rained conditions. *Annals of Plant and Soil Research*, 15 (2): 114–117.
- Jenkins, P. D. and Ali, H. (2000). Phosphate supply and progeny tuber numbers in potato crops. *Annals Appl. Biol.* 136(1), 41-46.
- John Burke J. (2017). Growing the Potato Crop. Vita, Equity House, Upper Ormond Quay, Dublin 7, Ireland.
- Jones, Clain, Kathrin and Olson-Rutz Courtney. (2003). Pariera Dinkins nutrient uptake timing by crops to assist with fertilizing decisions, department of land resources and environmental science. *Montana State University*, Bozeman.
- Kabira, J. (2007). Commercial seed potato production in eastern and central Africa. Kenya Agricultural.
- Kandil, A.A., Attia, A.N., Badawi, M.A., Sharief, A.E. and Abido, W.A.E. (2011). Influence of water stress and organic and inorganic fertilization on quality, storability and chemical analysis of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L). *Journal of Applied Sciences Research*, 7(3): 187-199.

- Kinde Lamessa and Asfaw Zewdu. (2016). Effect of spacing and fertilizer dose on growth and yield of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Gudane variety at West Hararghe, Eastern Ethiopia. *International Journal of Horticulture and Ornamental Plants*, 2(1): 11–18.
- Kleinkopf, G.E., Westermann, D.T., Wille, M.J, Kleinscmidt, G.D. (1987). Specific Gravity of Russet Burbank Potatoes. *Am. Potato J*. 64: 579-587.
- Klikocka, H. (2005). The influence of sulfur fertilization on the yield value and infection rate of potato tubers by Streptomycin scabies and Rhizoctonia solani. *Fragments Agronomic*.4:38-50.
- Koprivova, A. and Kopriva, S. (2016). Sulfur metabolism and its manipulation in crops. *Journal* of Genetics and Genomics, 43(11): 623-629.
- Kumar, M., Baishya, L. K., Ghosh, D. C., Ghosh, M., Gupta, V. K., & Verma, M. R. (2013). Effects of organic manures, chemical fertilizers and bio fertilizers on growth and productivity of rained potato in the eastern Himalayas. *Journal of plant nutrition*, 36(7), 1065-1082.
- Kumar, P., Pandey, S. K., Singh, S. V., Singh, B. P., Rawal, S., and Kumar, D. (2008). Evaluation of nutrient management options for potato processing cultivars. *Potato journal*, *35*(1-2).
- Kumar, V., Singh, J. P., Shivani, and Kaushik, H. (2020). A Study of vermicompost, cow dung, and phosphate solubilizing bacteria on growth and yield of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L). *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 9(8): 184-189.
- Kurosh SN, Saeed J, Hosein AS, and Sodabeh EA. (2004). Consideration on effects of application time and rate of zinc on quantitative and qualitative characteristics of potato. *Agricultural Research Center of Khorasan*. 48 p.
- Lakew Getaneh and Fanuel Laekemariam. (2021). Response of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L) to NPS fertilizer rates and inter row spacing in Kechi District, South western Ethiopia. Journal of Environmental and soil science, 3(1):055-066.

- Lalitha, B. S., Nagaraj, K. H., and Anand, T. N. (2002). Effect of source propagation, level of potassium and sulphur on potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.).
- Lambers, H., Martinoia, E., and Renton, M. (2015). Plant adaptations to severely phosphorusimpoverished soils. *Current opinion in plant biology*, 25, 23-31.
- Landon, J.R. (1991). Booker Tropical Soil Manual: A handbook for soil survey and agricultural land evaluation in the tropics and subtropics. (Eds.) John Wiley & Sons Inc., *New York*.
- Lobell, D.B., Cassman, K.G. and Field, C.B. (2009). Crop yield gaps: their importance, magnitudes, and causes. *Annual Review on Environmental Research*, 34:179-204.
- Lutaladio, N.B. and Castaldi, L. (2009). Potato: the hidden treasure. *Food Composition Analysis Journal*, 22: 491-493.
- Lynch, D.R., and Tai, G.C. (1989). Yield and yield component response of eight potato genotypes to water stress. *Crop Science*. 29: 1207-1211.
- Mah, T. M.S., Rahman, Z., Haque, K.K., Barman, U.K., Laily. (2021). Dissemination of BARI released potato varieties in the Rangpur Region of Bangladesh. *Progressive Agriculture*, 32 (1): 17-21.
- Makani, M.N., Sargent, S.A., Zotarelli, L. and Reyes-Cabrera, J. (2013). Postharvest quality of table stock potatoes in response to drip irrigation and harvest time. *Proc. Fla. State Hort. Soc.*, 126: 184-186
- Manea, A.I.; Al-Bayati, H.J.M. and Al-Taey, D.K.N. (2019). Impact of yeast extract, zinc sulphate and organic fertilizer spraying on potato growth and yield. *Res. Crops*, 20(1): 95-100.
- Margaret, J.M., Anton, M.K., and Vincent, E.R. (2007).Hartmann's plant science, development, growth, and utilization of cultivated plants 4th Ed. *Pearson's Prentice Hall*. Pp. 156-166.

- Marschner, H. (1995). Mineral nutrition of higher Plants. 2nd edition, academic press, London. p. 645.
- McCollum, R.E. (1978). Analysis of potato growth under differing managements. Time status of interactions for growth and leaf efficiency. *Agronomy Journal* 70: 58–66.
- Mehlich, A. (1984). Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of Mehlich 2 extractant. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, *15*(12), 1409–1416.
- Mekides Mekashaw, Melkamu Alemayehu, Getachew Shumye, and Amare Haileslassie. (2020).
 Effects of blended NPS fertilizer rates on yield and yield components of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties at Dessie Zuria district, Northeast Ethiopia. *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, 6(1).
- Mekuannet Belay, Wassu Mohammed and Kiya Adare. (2022). Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) growth, tuber yield and quality as influenced by blended NPS fertilizer and farmyard manure. *Ethiopian Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 13(1), 45 55.
- Melikamu Alemayehu and Minwyelet Jemberie. (2018). Optimum rates of NPS fertilizer application for economically profitable production of potato varieties at Koga Irrigation Scheme, Northwestern Ethiopia. *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, 4 (1):63.
- Mikkelsen, R. L., Binder, C. R., Frossard, E., Brand, F. S., Scholz, R. W., & Vilsmaier, U. (2014). Use: What is needed to support sustainability? In Sustainable Phosphorus Management (pp. 207-246). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Miller, J.S. and Rosen, C.J. (2005). Interactive effects of fungicide programs and nitrogen management on potato yield and quality. *American journal of potato research*, 82(5): 399-409.
- Minwyelet Jemberie, Melkamu Alemayehu and Yigizaw Dessalegn. (2017). Effects of NPS fertilizer rate and irrigation frequency determination method on the growth and tuber yield of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) in Koga Irrigation Scheme, West Gojjam, and North Western Ethiopia.

- MoA (Ministry of Agriculture). (2009). The Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, vegetable, root and fruit crops production package.
- MoA (Ministry of Agriculture). (2011). Guideline on Irrigation Agronomy. *Ministry of Agriculture Natural Resource Sector*. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 190p.
- MoA (Ministry of Agriculture). (2012). Animal and Plant Health Regulatory Directorate *Crop Variety Register*, (15), pp.37-38. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- MOANR (Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resource). (2013). Ethiopia is transitioning into the carrying out of soil test-based fertilizer use system.
- Mohr, R. and Tomasiewicz, D. (2008). Phosphorus management for irrigated potato production in Manitoba. *Better Crops*, 92(1): 23-25.
- Mokrani, K., Hamdi, K. and Tarchoun, N. (2018). Response to nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium fertilization rates. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 49(11):1314-1330.
- Moorby, J. (1967). Inter- stem and inter- tuber competition in potatoes. *European potato journal* 10: 180-205.
- Mousavi SR, Mohammad G, Goudarz A. (2007). Effect of zinc and manganese foliar application on yield, quality and enrichment on potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). Asian J Plant Sci.; 6(8):1256–1260.
- Muhr GR, Datta NP, Shankra SN, Dever F, Lacy VK, Danahue RR. (1963). Soil testing in India. USAID Mission to India.
- Murphy, B. W. (2007). *Soils their properties and management. '3rd edn.* (Oxford University Press: Melbourne).
- Muthoni, J., and Kabira, J. N. (2011). Effects of different sources of nitrogen on potato at Tigoni, Kenya. *Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management*, 2(6), 167-174.

Navarre, D.A., Goyer, A. and Shakya, R. (2009). Nutritional value of potatoes, first edit.

- Nizamuddin, M., Mahmood, M., Farooq, K. and Riaz, S. (2003). Response of potato to various levels of NPK. *Asian J. Plant Sci.* 2: 149-151.
- Nuru Seid Tehulie and Tenalem Misgan. (2019). Review on the effects of nitrogen fertilizer rates on growth, yield components, and yield of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *International Journal of Research in Agronomy*, 2(2): 51-56.
- Nyawade, S. O., Karanja, N. N., Gachene, C. K., Schulte-Geldermann, E., & Parker, M. (2018). Effect of potato hilling on soil temperature, soil moisture distribution and sediment yield on a sloping terrain. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 184, 24-36.
- Olsen, S. R. (1954). Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium bicarbonate (No. 939).
- Onder, S., Caliskan, M.E., Onder, D., and Caliskan, S. (2005). Different irrigation methods and water stress effects on potato yield and yield components. *Agriculture and Water Management*. 73:73-86.
- Pandey, S.K., Singh, S.V. and Manivel, P. (2009). Genetic variability and causal relationship over seasons in potato. *Crop Research Hisar*, 29: 277-281.
- Pankhurst. R. (1964). Notes on a history of Ethiopian Agriculture. Ethiopian Observer. 7:210-240.
- Peter, M., Debra, K.R. and Svotwa, E. (2015). Effect of split nitrogen application and fertilizer rate on yield of Irish potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L) in a smallholder farming sector of Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Innovative Science, Engineering and Technology*, 2(1): pp.112-123
- Polgar Zsolt, Laszlo, Gergely, Zsolt, Vaszily, and Istvan Wolf. (2017). Manifestation of the abiotic stress tolerance of the new Hungarian potato varieties. *In: Twentieth European Association for Potato Research (EAPR) Triennial Conference. Versailles, France*, July 9–14.
- Puzina, T.I. (2004). Effect of zinc sulphate and boric acid on the hormonal status of potato plants in relation to tuberization. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 51(2): 209-215.

- Rahman, M. H., Hossain, I., Ahmad, M. U., and Rahim, M. A. (2017). Effects of Boron and Zinc on yield and Quality of Okra Seed. *Advances in Bioresearch*, 8(1).
- Rahman, M. W., Islam, M. M., Sheikh, M. M., Hossain, M. I., Kawochar, M. A., and Alam, M. S. (2018). Effect of foliar application of zinc on the yield, quality and storability of potato in Tista Meander Floodplain Soil. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 41(4).
- Rahman, M.W., Islam, S., Islam, M. M. and Hossain, M.S. (2019). Effect of sulfur on the yield and quality of potato varieties in Tista meander flood plain soil of Bangladesh. *International Journal of Plant and Soil Science*, 30(4):1-8.
- Rakshya D, and Arjun K S. (2019). Effect of Foliar Application of Zinc on Potato (Solanum Tuberosum L.) in Bhaktapur, Nepal. Agri Res Tech: Open Access J. 2019; 22(3): 556-202.
- Rice, R.P., Rice, L., Tindall, H.D. (1990). Fruit and vegetable output in 129 warm climates. *Hong Kong: MacMillan Educational Crop*.
- Rosa, P. M., Campos, T., de Sousa, A. C. B., de Sforca, D. A., Torres, G. A. M. and Souza, A.P. de . (2010). *Pesquisa Agropecuaria Brasileira*, 45(1): 110-113.
- Rosen, C.J., Kelling, K.A., Stark, J.C. and Porter, G.A. (2014). Optimizing Phosphorus Fertilizer Management in Potato Production. *American Journal of Potato Research*. 91: 145-160.
- Roy, R.N., Finck, A., Blair, G.J. and Tandon, H.L.S. (2006). Plant nutrition for food security: A guide for integrated nutrient management. *FAO fertilizer and plant nutrition bulletin*. FAO of the United Nations, Rome.
- Ryan, J., Estefan, G., and Rashid, A. (2001). Soil and plant analysis laboratory manual. ICARDA.
- Sahota, T. S. (2006). Importance of sulphur in crop production. Northwest Sci, 9, 10-12.
- Sanjana, B., Gaurav, S. and Verma, S. K. (2014). Potato crop growth and yield response to different levels of nitrogen under Chhattisgarh plains agro-climatic zone. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 7(10): 1504-1508.

- SAS, Institute Inc. (2012). SAS/STAT User"s Guide, SAS Online document 9.31, Cary, NC: SAS Institute, Inc.
- Sati, K., M. Raghav, C.P. Singh, V.K. Singh and A. Shukla. (2017). Effect of zinc sulphate application on growth and yield of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *Res. Environ. Life Sci.*, 10(8): 685-687.
- Semagn Asredie Kolech, Halseth D, De Jong W, Perry KK, Wolfe D, Tiruneh FM. (2015). Potato Variety Diversity, Determinants and Implications for Potato Breeding Strategy in Ethiopia. 92(5):551-66.
- Sharma, D. (2015). "Effect of Sulphur on Growth, Yield and Economic of Potato Cultivar." *Annals of Plant and Soil Research*, 17: 45-49.
- Sharma, D.K., Kushwah, S.S., Nema, P.K. and Rathore, S.S. (2011). Effect of sulfur on yield and Quality of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.). International Journal of Agricultural Research. 6:143-148.
- Sharma, U. C., Grewal, J. S., and Trehan, S. P. (1988). Response of potato to applied zinc on soil with variable zinc availability. *Journal of the Indian Potato Association*, 15, 21-26.
- Shege Getu Yayeh, Melkamu Alemayehu, Amare Haileslassie and Yigzaw Dessalegn. (2017). Economic and agronomic optimum rates of NPS fertilizer for irrigated garlic (*Alliums sativum* L) production in the highlands of Ethiopia. *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, 3(1):133.
- Solomon Fantaw, Derajew Asres, and Aleminew Tagele. (2019). Effect of blended chemical fertilizer (sulfur, nitrogen, and phosphorus) on yield and yield components of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) in the rainy season. College of agriculture and environmental sciences, University of Gondar, Gondar, Ethiopia, 11(3):54-61.
- Spooner, D. M. and Salas, A. (2006). Structure, biosystematics, and genetic resources. Pages 1-39 in J. Gopal, S. M. P. Khurana, and Eds. Handbook of potato production, improvement and post-harvest management. *Food Products Press, Binghamton, NY*.

- Struik, P. C. (2007). Above-ground and below-ground plant development. Pages 219-236 inD. Vreugdenhil, J. Bradshaw, C. Gebhardt, F. Govers, D. K. L. Mackerron, M. A.
- Sud, K. C. and Sharma, R. C. (2002). Sulfur needs of potatoes under rain fed conditions in Shimla hills. In potato, global research and development. Proceedings of the global conference on potato, New Delhi, India. *Indian Potato Association*, 2: 889-899.
- Taheri, N., Abad, H. H. S., Yousefi, K. and Mousavi, S. R. (2011). Effect of organic manure with phosphorus and zinc on yield of seed potato. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 5(8): 775-780.
- Tahmorespour, M.A., Vishkai, M.N.S. and Soleymani, A. (2013). Effect of Plant Density, Date and Depth of Cultivation on Yield and Yield Components of Potato Planting in the Chabahar. *International Journal of Agronomy and Plant Production*, 4 (8): 1890-1897.
- Talburt, W. F., and Smith, O. (1959). Potato processing. The AVI. Publishing Company. Inc. Westport, 10.
- Tandon, H.L.S. (1991). Sulphur research and agricultural production in India. The Sulphur *Institute, Washington DC*. USA, 140p.
- Tanner, C.B., Wells, G.G. and Curwen, D. (1982). Russet Burbank is rooted in sandy soils with pans following deep ploughing. *American Potato Journal*. *59*: 107-112.
- Tekalign Tadesse, Tekalign Mamo and Aduayi E.A. 1991. Soil, plant, water, fertilizer, animal manure and compost analysis manual. Plant Science Division Working Document 13, ILCA, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- Tekalign Tsegaw and P.S. Hammes. (2005). Growth and productivity of potato as influenced by cultivar and reproductive growth II, Growth analysis, tuber yield and quality. *Scientia Horticulturae*.105: 29-44.
- Temesgen Tadesse, Getachew Mulugeta. (2023). Effect of blended fertilizer rates and planting density on yield and yield components of Irish potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) at Gombora condition, Hadiya zone, Southern Ethiopia.

- Tesfaye Abebe, Githiri, M. and Tolessa Debele. (2011). Subsistence farmers' experience and perception about the soil, and fertilizer use in Western Ethiopia. *Ethiopia Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 2(2):61-74.
- Tisdale, S. L., Nelson, W. L., and Beaton, J. D. (1985). *Soil fertility and fertilizers*. Collier Macmillan Publishers.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). (1987). Forest Service. N.D. Soil resource inventory. Umatilla National Forest, Pacific Northwestern Region.
- Van Reeuwijk, L. P. (1993). Procedure for Soil Analysis. 4th Edn. International Soil Reference Center Wageningen (ISRIC) Technical Paper No. 9. *The Netherlands*. Volume 3 Number 7 (2014) pp. 874-881.
- Vandenberg, R.G. and Jacobs, M.M. (2007). Molecular Taxonomy. In: Vreugdenhil, D., Bradshaw, J., Gebhardt, C., Govers, F., MacKerron, D.K.L., M.A. Taylor, Ross, H.A. (Eds.), Potato Biology and Biotechnology. Advances and Perspectives. Elsevier. BV. Pp. 55-76.
- Walkley, A. and Black, I.A. (1934). An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter, and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. *Soil science*, 37(1), pp.29-38.
- Westermann, D. (2005). Nutritional Requirements of Potatoes. American Journal of Potato Research, 82: 301-307.
- White, P. J., and Broadley, M. R. (2011). Physiological limits to zinc biofortification of edible crops. *Frontiers in plant science*, *2*, 80.
- White, P. J., Wheatley, R. E., Hammond, J. P., and Zhang, K. (2007). Minerals, soils and roots in: Potato biology and biotechnology: *Advances and perspectives*. Elsevier B.V.
- William, M. A. and Woodbury, G. W. (1968). Specific gravity dry matter relationship and reducing sugar change affected by potato variety, production area and storage. *American potato Journal*, 45 (4): 119-131.

- Workat Sebnie. (2020). Response of potato to nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizer at Wag-Lasta Areas of Eastern Amhara, Ethiopia. Sekota Dry-Land Agricultural Research Center, 2:1-14.
- Zaheer, K., and Akhtar, M. H. (2016). Potato production, usage, and nutrition a review. *Critical reviews in food science and nutrition*, 56(5), 711-721.
- Zelalem Aychew, Takalign Tsegaw, and Nigussie Dechassa. (2009). Response of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) to different rate of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization on vertisols at Debre Berhan, in the central highlands of Ethiopia. African Journal of Plant Science 3:16-24.
- Zenda, T., Liu, S., Dong. A. and Duan, H. (2021). Revisiting sulphur-the once neglected nutrient: Its roles in plant growth, metabolism, stress tolerance, and crop production. *Agriculture*, 11(7): 626.
- Zhang, E., Li, J., Zhang, K., Wang, F., Yang, H., Zhi, S., and Liu, G. (2018). Anaerobic digestion performance of sweet potato vine and animal manure under wet, semi-dry, and dry conditions. *Amb Express*, 8, 1-10.

7. APPENDICES

Appendix Table 1. Mean squares of analysis of variance for the effect of blended NPS and Zinc fertilizers on growth, yield, yield components and quality parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

Parameters/source	Block	NPS	Zinc	NPS*Zinc	error	
df	2	3	3	9	30	
DE	0.02	0.81 ^{ns}	0.14 ^{ns}	0.84 ^{ns}	0.61	
DF	4.52	3.91**	1.91 ^{ns}	1.29 ^{ns}	0.79	
DM	2.44	4.69^{*}	2.92 ^{ns}	1.91 ^{ns}	1.23	
MSN	2.91	16.04***	1.60^{**}	3.66***	0.32	
NOB	16.78	99.03***	20.05***	25.67***	2.07	
РНТ	2.41	650.55***	34.16***	139.05***	2.77	
ATW	131.68	677.02***	80.43**	161.29***	16.02	
MTN	46.69	292.96***	34.05***	66.94***	3.91	
UNMTN	0.65	2.53**	0.46 ^{ns}	0.83 ^{ns}	0.55	
TTN	37.07	242.26***	29.07***	55.39***	3.17	
MTY	1.53	553.11***	42.23***	130.73***	5.57	
UNMTY	6.51	5.51**	0.35 ^{ns}	4.82 ^{ns}	0.84	
TTY	12.56	398.95***	27.72**	92.06***	4.32	
LTS	0.54	412.65***	94.60***	110.17^{***}	3.61	
MTS	2.73	100.88^{***}	22.82***	28.78^{***}	2.55	
STS	5.11	904.58***	188.5^{***}	238.59***	9.26	
DM	0.2	23.42***	23.14***	11.78^{***}	1.05	
SG	0.00	0.0015^{***}	0.0002^{***}	0.00035***	0.00002	
SC	5.28	60.04***	8.11***	13.94***	0.73	

Where, df=degree of freedom, DE=days to 50% emergency, DF=days to 50% flowering, DM=days to 75% physiological maturity, MSN=main stem numberpalnt⁻¹, NOB=number of branch plant⁻¹, PHT=plant height (cm), ATW=average tuber weight (g/tuber) MTN=marketable

tuber number plant⁻¹, UNMTN=unmarketable tuber number plant⁻¹, TTN=total tuber number plant⁻¹, MTY=marketable tuber yield (tha¹), UNMTY=unmarketable tuber yield (tha⁻¹), TTY=total tuber yield (tha⁻¹), LTS=large tuber size, MTS=medium tuber size, STS=small tuber size, DM=dry matter of tuber (%), SG=specific gravity (g/cm³), SC=starch content of tuber (%), ***= significant at $P \le 0.001$ probability level, **= significant at $P \le 0.05$ probability level and ns = non-significant at P > 0.05 probability level.

Appendix Table 2. The main effect of blended NPS and Zinc fertilizers on growth parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)	PHT	MSN	ANB	
270	79.32 ^a	5.57 ^a	14.03 ^a	
180	78.97 ^a	5.36 ^a	13.90 ^a	
90	69.99 ^b	4.13 ^b	10.18 ^b	
0	64.17 ^c	3.08 ^c	8.20 ^c	
CV	2.27	12.37	12.42	
Zn (ppm)				
675	74.28 ^a	4.83 ^a	12.52 ^a	
450	74.78 ^a	4.80 ^a	12.67 ^a	
225	72.16 ^b	4.46 ^{ab}	11.64 ^a	
0	71.24 ^b	4.05 ^b	9.74 ^b	
CV (%)	2.27	12.37	12.42	

Where: PHT = plant height (cm), MSN = stem number $plant^{-1}$, ANB = average number of branch $plant^{-1}$, Values connected by a different letter across a column are significantly different at the 5% significance level.

NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)	MTN	TTN	ATW	MTY	TTY
270	17.30 ^a	21.72 ^a	80.11 ^a	34.995 ^b	40.41 ^a
180	17.53 ^a	21.64 ^a	79.34 ^{ab}	38.39 ^a	42.55 ^a
90	10.86 ^b	15.85 ^b	76.24 ^{bc}	29.62 ^c	35.10 ^b
0	7.52°	12.62 ^c	74.61 ^c	24.04 ^d	29.66 ^c
CV	14.86	9.91	5.16	11.22	9.45
Zn (ppm)					
675	14.69 ^a	19.39 ^a	79.94 ^a	34.6 ^a	39.77 ^a
450	14.74 ^a	19.10 ^a	79.67 ^a	35.14 ^a	40.22 ^a
225	12.41 ^b	17.19 ^b	77.15 ^{ab}	30.29 ^b	35.70 ^b
0	11.37 ^b	16.14 ^b	75.40 ^b	27.02 ^c	32.05 ^c
CV	14.86	9.91	5.16	11.22	9.45

Appendix Table 3.The main effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizers on yield and yield component parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

Where: MTN=Marketable tuber number plant⁻¹, TTN= Total tuber number plant⁻¹, ATW= Average tuber weight (g plant⁻¹), MTY=Marketable tuber yield (t ha⁻¹), TTY=Total tuber yield (t ha⁻¹), Values connected by the different letter across a column are significantly different at the 5% significance level.

NPS (kg ha ⁻¹)	STS	MTS	LTS	TDM	SPG	TSC
270	17.3°	39.40 ^b	43.30 ^b	25.37 ^a	1.087 ^b	15.16 ^b
180	8.81 ^d	42.61 ^a	48.58 ^a	26.04 ^a	1.092 ^a	16.14 ^a
90	23.91 ^b	36.67 ^c	39.42 ^c	24.41 ^b	1.078 ^c	13.39 ^c
0	28.87 ^a	36.39 ^c	34.76 ^d	22.82 ^c	1.066 ^d	11.05 ^d
CV	15.43	4.12	4.58	4.15	0.4	6.15
Zn (ppm)						
675	17.52 ^c	38.66 ^b	43.83 ^a	25.61 ^a	1.084 ^a	14.72 ^a
450	15.99 ^c	40.25 ^a	43.75 ^a	25.74 ^a	1.083 ^a	14.43 ^a
225	20.37 ^b	39.2 ^{ab}	40.43 ^b	24.56 ^b	1.08 ^b	13.72 ^b
0	25.01 ^a	36.95°	38.03 ^c	22.74 ^c	1.075 ^c	12.87 ^c
CV	15.43	4.12	4.58	4.15	0.4	6.15

Appendix Table 4. The main effect of blended NPS and zinc fertilizers on tubers size categories and tuber quality related parameters of potato at Debre Berhan during 2023 cropping season.

Where: STS=Small tuber size, MTS= Medium tuber size, LTS= Large tuber size, TDM=Tuber dry matter content, SPG=Specific gravity, TSC=Tuber starch content, Values connected by the different letter across a column are significantly different at the 5% significance level.